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Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at

31 December 2023:
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Tianda for Health!

| Award & Certificate £E 155

Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the status of Happy Company under
the "Happiness-at-Work Promotional Scheme" by the Promoting Happiness
Index Foundation

RAEERERRAREIEHESENS ROLFER) s8I TZRAOERE

HAPDY B k%
compPANY

Tianda Pharmaceuticals was awarded the "Caring Company" logo by the

Eﬁ@?@ Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the third consecutive year
Carlngcompan 20 %kﬁﬁ HEEF-FEEBLERFTHMIEERN HRERIE
Awarded by The Hong KD%S, g}?;l Hoé;;csgl ;}r\égg _tF TDILy\

°®

Tianda Pharmaceuticals’ Tuoen® Ibuprofen was awarded as the L @lﬁ“%

@

Most Valuable Product in China’s Pharmacy Chains for 2023 2023 EEHBERASIFNERR
RAREZEITROMB S RE2023KBE THEIEHEERA [feei]
&1FfEEEm RIA REHEFTRER

PY

Tianda Pharmaceuticals won the "ESG Award" by the Television Broadcast Limited

RAEXREBRERARABDMREN NRIT - HEREAKRE

Tianda Pharmaceutical
Limited

TDMall won the 2023 Hong Kong Emerging Service Brand Awards
TRAEE) RE NOBEBMERB MR KT
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. FANG Wen Quan, aged 54, has been appointed as an Executive
Director since 6 October 2003. He is currently Chairman, Managing
Director, chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the
remuneration committee and the risk management committee of the
Company, and a director of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Fang
is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner of Tianda Group Limited
(the controlling shareholder of the Company holding 56.72% equity
interest in the Company). Mr. Fang is currently the chairman of the
board of directors, general manager and authorized representative of
Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889, and delisted on 3
April 2024). Mr. Fang studied International Relations at the University of
Sydney and Tsinghua University. He has ample experience in corporate
strategy and management. He also established a non-profit strategic
studies think tank named “Tianda Institute”. With the mission of “Caring
for a Better World”, Mr. Fang has all along provided financial support
to communities in need, including donations to the poor, education and
talent development, medical and healthcare, scientific research and
environmental protection, culture and arts, and so on.

Mr. LUl Man Sang, aged 59, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since 30 September 2013 and is a director
of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the
controlling shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is the deputy
general manager of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial
management of Tianda Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of
Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889, and delisted on
3 April 2024). Mr. Lui possesses enriched financial management
experience covering a variety of industries including auditing in one of
the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong and overseeing the finance
department of a Hong Kong listed company. He holds an Executive
MBA granted by City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. ZHONG Tao, aged 51, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company since 29
August 2023. He is currently the vice president, board secretary and joint
company secretary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 601607,
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (*Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”) with stock code 02607, which holds 13.05% equity interest in
the Company). Mr. Zhong previously served as an executive director and
a vice president of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited
(a company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code 00563);
and held several management positions in other companies including
Shanghai Industrial Management (Shanghai) Company Limited., Shanghai
Galaxy Digital Investment Company Limited., and Shanghai Industrial
Real Property Group (Shanghai) Company Limited. etc. Mr. Zhong holds a
master’'s degree in Business Management from Fudan University.

Mr. FENG Quanming, aged 47, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director since 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is Chief Financial Officer of
Hongta Tabacco (Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.66% equity
interest in the Company. He has extensive experience in corporate
financial accounting and asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta
in July 2001. During the period from August 2007 to January 2022, he
took various positions in the finance department of Hongta, including
deputy head of industrial finance division, head and deputy head of
asset management division, head of general management division
and head of the finance department. He was also the head of financial
planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013 to August 2014.
Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and master in business
administration at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng
possesses the qualification of practising certified public accountant in
mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. LAM Yat Fai, aged 58, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and a member of audit committee of the Company since 2004. On
26 November 2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee. He was appointed as a member of nomination committee
and risk management committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited (stock code: 0018),
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHIU Sung Hong, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He was admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 40 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director
of CNOOC Limited (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
with stock code 600938, and Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock
code 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.

Dr. Xian Yanfang, aged 42, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company since 27 June 2023. Dr. Xian
is an assistant professor of School of Chinese Medicine, The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She has extensive research experience in
the field of Pharmacology of Chinese medicines, Herb-drug interactions
of Chinese and western medicines and Quality control of Chinese
medicines. Dr. Xian is currently a project review expert of National
Natural Science Foundation of China, the general secretary of Hong
Kong Association of Chinese Herbal Pharmacology, a member of
technical support team in Pharmacology and Toxicology of The Hong
Kong Government Chinese Medicines Testing Institute, the committee
member of Deficiency Syndrome and Geriatrics Professional Committee
of China Association of Integrative Medicine, and a member of Branch
of Integrative Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine of the China
Association of Gerontology and Geriatrics. Dr. Xian holds a Ph. D
degree in Chinese Medicine from The Chinese University of Hong Kong,
and a master's degree and a bachelor’s degree in Science of Chinese
Materia Medica from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

In 2023, as the World Health Organization declared an end to the
public health emergency of the COVID-19 pandemic and China relaxed
its pandemic control measures, the economy experienced steady
growth. The Group further implemented the “Three Developments”
strategy (development of Chinese medicine business as foundation,
development of innovative drugs and medical technologies, as well as
development of quality medical and healthcare services). Seizing this
opportunity, the results of the Group’s three major business segments
continued to improve while consolidating core products, enriching
product pipelines, expanding sales channels and further developing
the traditional Chinese medicine (“TCM”) industrial chain. The Group’s
continued investment in research and development (‘R&D”) is expected
to yield fruitful results with new product launches, aiming to create new
profit growth drivers and establish a stronger competitive position for
future development.

The Group’s Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business
focused on cardiovascular and cerebrovascular, pediatric, and
respiratory system diseases by actively introducing, developing and
acquiring innovative drugs, generic drugs and healthcare products.
The Zhuhai Jinwan R&D and production base operated at full capacity
at the beginning of the year to produce urgently needed drugs such
as Tuoen®lbuprofen, ensuring the national drug supply and making
every effort to meet the urgent medication needs of people across the
nation. The Group adopted an unconventional approach and efficiently
expanded the production capacity and completed the construction of
a new liquid-finished dosages production line within just three months.
During the year, the Group’s Tuoen®Ibuprofen received the prestigious
“Most Valuable Product in China’s Pharmacy Chains” award from
MENET and drew significant attention during the conference. Currently,
seven products under R&D have entered the registration stage, and it
is expected that five of them will be launched in 2024, providing new
momentum for the Group’s continued growth in the future.

For the Chinese medicine business segment, leveraging on
the established TCM industrial chain build-up, the Group focused
on domestic and overseas trading of Chinese medicinal materials,
production and sales, and distribution of TCM decoction pieces,
integrating special resources from upstream to downstream for the
industry with a focus on variety management. In July 2023, the
Group signed a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
the Qiaocheng District Government of Bozhou city, Anhui Province,
known as the “City of Chinese Medicine” to actively participate in the
construction of a strategic reserve of Chinese medicinal materials and
jointly promote projects related to plant extraction and preparation of
Chinese medicinal materials. The Group focused on the development of
its advantageous product pipeline, actively constructed and developed
a series of TCM health products and gradually formed a strategy for
the R&D of TCM with a view of “stronger R&D, larger markets and
enhanced efficacy”, fully leveraging the advantages and diverse values
of TCM to realize the leapfrog development of the Chinese medicine
business.

Annual Report 2023

2023%F > (EEHMARBEHEBEMRGER
FTEEBAHBEZRSNKE  FEREE
ERR REEBIER KNEFRE—F%K
BIEZESHE UERPEBEEXALE
B BRAMENMNBERERE ZEEHE
BERMNGRERT) @ IE2MA > BBEEX
LVEM -SEERESR HRHEERER
AP BEEEREMGR  FBRIS=K%E
BRIRES - REEFBERAMEZRIDR
WA TEGRREBE LT ABRELRE
%%#ﬁﬂ'\]ﬂﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ ' REIBEFHNHRE
&R o

FEBEYMNBEBREBIRRZE
SIS ~ BEFNIFIR R BREES
A S ~ TR EE ~ HERBRURREE ~ (AR EEA
RBEEM URKESENMERRER
R EFEYRBEETEELRON BT EST
oo IEBRRFHET BEHOREEE
BEMRRESRAESRRK > WL TEIEFEH
GEERFE ~ IFAME) AR REEE
REE > TRMBREEREER - KF
B> AEEERONRESRERDE THEH
BHEERASFEEERI HE > TEHF
FZERBERER - Bal > A7TEEMER
BIEAEMEER > A5 H F5{E R 1220245
£ BARERFEERREHTHOBEE -

AEBPREEFIRVKITIET N
FhBeeEp EREMAE > SEEREPEM
HEAINES - PEGRREEHERIEEE
o UREBKEATRLD  FHBEEEX L
THIEEER - NERMN2023FE7H E Tth
BEEM RHEENTHERERAET T8
& EEZRGE > BB E P8R
HEER  HREWEDEMERNUESE
BEEH AEEREERERWE  BED
HEBhBEERERRY > BESERTKH
B K5~ KMAE) DB ERE > 7T
DHRBERBESEEDNSTEBE D
hEEEFEEEFEREMAEE o

200 R



12 EESEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

For the Medical and healthcare services segment, the Group
steadily advanced the development of the new type of Chinese
medicine clinic “TDMall”, serving as an effective complement to public
medical services. To further enhance its presence in core cities in the
Greater Bay Area and create distinctive businesses, the fifth TDMall
opened in Shenzhen in March 2023 and launched “TDMall Lifestyle”
(RAEE-B4E), aiming to provide convenient and high-quality
TCM healthcare services and comprehensive wellness experiences.
By expanding its operations from domestic to overseas markets, the
Group leveraged its accumulated valuable experience and expertise to
explore domestic and global opportunities timely. In November 2023,
the Group initiated the “Greater Bay Area TCM Practitioner Training
Program” to recruit nationwide graduate students specializing in TCM
as interns. After systematic training, they were stationed in the Group’s
TDMalls in Shenzhen and Zhuhai for internship. This initiative not only
provided employment opportunities for graduates from Hong Kong but
also nurtured talents in the field of TCM, fostering them to become the
driving force in promoting the culture of TCM in the future.

While continuing to strengthen its domestic business, the
Group also promoted globalization and expanded into international
markets with a focus on market opportunities in ASEAN, Africa
and BRICS countries, aiming to create an international marketing
platform for Chinese pharmaceuticals and health products. In terms of
investment and merger and acquisition, the Group conducted extensive
screening, research, and evaluation of investment targets in the fields
of pharmaceuticals and healthcare, seeking valuable investment
opportunities with growth potential and will invest in high-quality
domestic and international projects and businesses when appropriate.

Relying on the “Three Developments” strategy, the Group has
solidified its competitive advantage in the industry chain. After years
of development and experience, the Group’s business segments are
progressing in tandem and poised for a period of rapid development and
continuous growth.

Finally, | would like to express sincere gratitude to the
shareholders, customers, employees, and business partners for their
years of support, contributions, and trust and would like to extend my
appreciation to the members of the Board for their efforts and dedication
to the development of the Group.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024

FEBEBRMRERBIREREIEE
MERBEIRAEINER  (FAALER
BEAMMIE BE— P TEAENEEZ
OEHHNGRERARBFEER > BERRAK
fEEM2023E3B A RYIFSE » MR AHH
IRAREE-BERE » MNOREEFEDIND
BEERKRFR-IEXEERE - BARL
BAERIMNHELSE > AEERRLEA
ESNEEEER  BRAHABEANNTEE -
2023118 » AEBERRETKXEE D EEEMIE
25t REEEEDREXEXEDLE
BB A o 4K A 15 B 1R IR BE 2 BE ORI
RKBMMBEIRKEES o L—RERE
AEBEEEREMERTG  BEAPER
BEPRMAL > HARKREERBEX
fENENE -

AEEEAE R IREAEFRE R
HEZKEHE > HREREDE > BEAR
B IEMMERERSHIBKE » T
&R B B R 2 B mm MY B PRAE & S A 4
TR EREHBHE  AEBRHEYN
BRRBREFABZKERNET TRKEN
B IEMETE > SHEABENER
ERENKERE  RERHEERRINE
BMEBETRE -

RE=ZEER B xEEHFEE
XEGFED CESFOMZERR
BEXEFRRERILE > FERRRE R
AR EIE R -

RE EILRBERR -FR-BT
REZGEBHZSERNZR - BEMAIE
- UREEENEAEERE RN
BHMMH -

B XHE
EFR

&5 > 2024438268




Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

In order to align the financial year end date of the Company with
that of the principal operating subsidiaries of the Company, the financial
year end date of the Company has been changed from 31 March to 31
December in November 2022. In view of this change, the consolidated
financial statements cover the twelve-month period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) and the comparative figures
cover the nine-month period from 1 April 2022 to 31 December 2022
(the “Previous Financial Period”). The audited comparative figures may
not be fully comparable due to differences in the length of the reporting
periods.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, against the backdrop of the subsided global COVID-19
pandemic and the steady economic recovery in China, through a
series of measures such as consolidating core products, enriching
product pipeline, expanding sales channels and further developing
the TCM industrial chain, the Group continued to improve its three
major business segments: pharmaceuticals and medical technologies,
Chinese medicine and medical and healthcare services. The Group’s
fundamentals were further improved during the Year with a steady
increase in revenue, continuous improvement in operating efficiency and
significant narrowing of loss. Overall revenue for the Year amounted
to HK$532.1 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$410.0 million).
Loss attributable to owners of the parent decreased significantly from
HK$41.0 million in the Previous Financial Period to HK$24.2 million in
the Year.

Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business unleashing its
advantages with leading products in the field

Benefiting from the supportive policies and the Group’s
business advantages, the Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies
business achieved satisfactory growth in the Year, recording a
revenue of HK$470.7 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$344.7
million). The Group is deeply engaged in the fields of cardiovascular,
cerebrovascular and pediatric diseases with two leading products
with revenues exceeding $100 million: Tuoping®Valsartan
capsules for cardio-cerebrovascular disease and pediatric drugs
Tuoen®lbuprofen series. Benefitting from the optimized epidemic
prevention and control measures implemented by the Chinese
government earlier this year and the inclusion in the reference list
of commonly used drugs for home treatment of COVID-19 patients (
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MEREREEBRAEBERHESER), the pediatric drug,
Tuoen®lbuprofen recorded a sales revenue during the Year of
HK$170.4 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$118.8 million),
claiming the second position in market share in Mainland China.
The cardio-cerebrovascular drug, Tuoping®Valsartan capsules, has
maintained its position as the best-selling product of the similar variety
in the mainland China market in the Year, benefitting from the first place
in the tender results of the third round of national centralized medicines
procurement and recorded a sales revenue during the Year of HK$186.8
million (Previous Financial Period: HK$148.3 million).

To meet the market demand for Tuoen®Ibuprofen and anticipated
future growth, the Group completed the construction of a new
liquid-finished dosages production line and put it into operation at its
Zhuhai Jinwan R&D and production base in the first half of 2023. In
terms of production capacity utilization, the Group scheduled production
reasonably based on market demand during peak and off-peak seasons,
ensuring the supply and sales of various products while saving labor
and energy costs. Additionally, by scaling up production volume, the
Group further improved production efficiency.

The Group’s CDMO/CMO business also recorded rapid growth,
with the revenue approximately 3 times higher than in the Previous
Financial Period. By the end of 2023, the number of the Group’s CDMO
projects for pharmaceuticals and health products on hand exceeded 30
(as at the end of 2022: 10).

Further development of the Chinese medicine segment with
cooperation among industries, universities, research institutes and
medical practitioners

For the Chinese medicine business, relying on its whole industrial
chain build-up of traditional Chinese medicine, the Group has focused
on the development of domestic and foreign trading of Chinese
medicinal materials, Chinese medicinal decoction pieces, formula
granules and innovative Chinese medicines R&D, continuing to integrate
special resources in the industry’s upstream and downstream segments
with a focus on variety management. During the Year, the Chinese
medicine business expanded cautiously. As a result of the adoption of a
more stringent and prudent credit policy in the trading business, revenue
of the segment decreased during the Year and amounted to HK$48.4
million (Previous Financial Period: HK$54.1 million).
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In response to the rising prices of Chinese medicinal materials,
the Group actively strategized reserves business of Chinese medicinal
materials. In July 2023, the Group signed a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with the Qiaocheng District Government of
Bozhou city, Anhui Province, known as the “City of Chinese Medicine” to
actively participate in the construction of a strategic reserve of Chinese
medicinal materials and jointly promote projects related to the plant
extraction and preparation of Chinese medicinal materials.

During the Year, the Group comprehensively promoted in-depth
exchanges and collaborations among industries, universities, research
institutes and medical practitioners, and systematically advanced
the development of innovative Chinese medicine, the secondary
development of existing proprietary Chinese medicines and the
introduction of phased results and new products, enriching the product
R&D pipeline, to enhance the core competitiveness of the Group. The
Group is gradually forming a strategy for the R&D of TCM with a view of
“stronger R&D, larger markets and enhanced efficacy”, fully leveraging
the advantages and diverse values of TCM. Through technological
advancement, resource growth, and outcomes accumulation, the Group
aims to realize the leapfrog development of the Chinese medicine
business.

TDMall growing with innovative business model to promote TCM
culture

The Group created the new type Chinese medicine clinic
brand “TDMall”, with the core positioning of “specialist treatments
and specialized services, effectiveness and efficacy, combination
of recovery and health-preservation, and harmony between nature
and mankind”. Since the opening of its first flagship in 2019, TDMall
continuously improved its medical system, operation system, marketing
and sales system, and product system, establishing a development
model of “medical services + operations + marketing and sales +
products”. During the Year, the overall revenue of TDMall increased to
HK$13.0 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$11.2 million).

The Group’s fifth TDMall in the world — Shenzhen TDMall opened
in March 2023 and launched the health lifestyle brand “TDMall Lifestyle”
(RAEE-B4E), aiming to provide convenient and high-quality TCM
healthcare services and comprehensive wellness experiences. On the
foundation of continued expansion of its experienced team of renowned
medical experts, TDMall also initiated the “Greater Bay Area TCM
Practitioner Training Program” to train young physicians, providing a
talent pool for the rapid expansion of TDMall in the Greater Bay Area.
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To create a model that integrates online and offline development,
TDMall established the cloud-based Chinese medicine platform “TDMall
on Cloud”, as well as utilizing online operational support systems
including WeChat official accounts, WeChat mini programs, Alipay mini
programs, and Tik Tok official accounts. “TDMall on Cloud” combined
innovative technologies such as big data and artificial intelligence to
empower its physical clinics to provide patients with all-round and
remote Chinese medicine services.

Adhering to the principles of promoting the inheritance of TCM
culture and giving back to the community, TDMall organized dozens
of “Little Chinese physician” parent-child activities in the Greater Bay
Area. TDMall also reached out to communities and conducted over 40
charity clinic sessions during the Year. Furthermore, TDMall continued
to organize TCM-themed lectures for various institutions, chambers of
commerce, schools, and other organizations to promote knowledge of
Chinese medicine.

Expanding sales channels to strengthen its penetration in lower-
tier markets

The Group has established a nationwide marketing network,
covering 31 provinces, autonomous regions and direct-administered
municipalities, with three sales channels: the first terminal, which is
mainly composed of urban public medical institutions and grassroots
public medical institutions, the second terminal, which is primarily
composed of the top 100 nationwide chain drugstores, and the third
terminal, which is mainly composed of small chain drugstores, individual
drugstores and private hospitals and clinics. The Group continued to
build a more competitive marketing team to accelerate the development
process of the third terminal and the penetration into lower-tier markets
and county-level markets, thereby expanding its market coverage.

The Group also established an international business department
to focus on market opportunities in ASEAN, Africa and BRICS countries,
aiming to create an international marketing platform for Chinese
pharmaceuticals and health products.

AITER LB TREERNENX > X
RERBITHBERMKRFAIELERK
BBl ~ B AR ~ MiENER ~ ZE /)
B -HEEARERLEEXHER
HPpIEEXRREIBEETABEBRALE
FEFRIM R IESRAEERE B
BERMELA  BEREFEBRRKRS -

FREESHPBEECEARMOELTE
MRS RAEBEAREERRET #1151/
INFRERET IR TR 0 WEEHE - HIRE
BT EA405&R2EE - AR > RAETAS
AE BE ERFEBFESRMTE
ETEBE ERPBENE -

IMERHERE METATHLEE

FEEERIUZEMHIZEHME
BEBRAES - BRABHNEED ; MEE
ZAHERE  UAHRALUBERBERE
BRIBEEBAINE —Kin  UEEH
MEREHEESTRE &I~ BN
Bl BREENMLIBRRZSFAE
ME=ZRG AEERFEITEEABMAN
BUESH B > MRS =R im B 35 A2 > 0
BTNTHREE BRI IHRE > U
ENESHHISEE -

FEETHRTERERL > RER
B IFMNEREREHHHE > TESR
EB8 K {2 R E B EFRCEIHME TG -




Annual Report 2023

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

R&D entering harvest period with intensive new product launches

Through the combination of independent R&D, cooperation with
external R&D institutions, and the introduction of new projects, the
Group has formed a rich R&D pipeline. At present, R&D projects include
one TCM innovative drug of Class 1, three TCM new drugs of Class
3 originated from ancient TCM prescriptions, ten chemical generic
drugs, and several health products. After years of R&D investment
with accumulated know-how, several R&D projects have entered the
registration stage during the Year. As at the date of this announcement,
there are a total of 7 new varieties that have entered the registration
stage, with 5 of them expected to be introduced to the market in 2024,
bringing new growth momentum to the Group.

In the next two years, the Group will have an impressive lineup
of new varieties set to be launched. Among the five new products
expected to be released in 2024, the pediatric drugs include Ibuprofen
suspension, Ibuprofen drops (with the new Ibuprofen series serving as a
supplement to the existing Tuoen brand, preparing for further expansion
into the hospital market and future centralized procurement of
Ibuprofen) and Ambroxol Hydrochloride and Clenbuterol Hydrochloride
oral solution; the cardiocerebrovascular drug includes Nicorandil
for injection. The other new variety is Metformin Hydrochloride
Empagliflozin tablets for diabetes treatment. Furthermore, two new
varieties have also entered the registration stage: Montelukast sodium
granules for pediatric asthma and Bisoprolol Amlodipine tablets for
hypertension in the cardiovascular category, expected to be launched in
2025.

During the Year, the Group has made orderly progress in the
Phase Il clinical trials of the class | TCM innovative drug, which is a
cardiovascular drug used for the treatment of chronic heart failure. In
terms of the R&D on TCM, the Group will continue to advance the R&D
of innovative Chinese medicines, classic ancient prescriptions and
improved new drugs with several new drug varieties in reserve. The
Group will also focus on the R&D of multi-category functional health
products and carry out secondary development for existing proprietary
Chinese medicines and major variety incubation projects.

The Group is market oriented and adheres to the dual focus
of generic and innovative drug development, and coordinates
the promotion of innovative drugs, generic drugs and secondary
development. The Group focuses on advantageous areas such as
cardiovascular and pediatric fields while actively expanding into other
sectors, continuing to enrich its R&D pipeline.
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OUTLOOK

The Group is committed to building core chemical drug brands
including “Tuoen” and “Tuoping”, accelerating the capture of market
share of health product series such as “Tuokang”, actively increasing
market penetration in the lower-tier markets to expand market coverage;
and also capitalizing on the advantages brought by TCM policies
for high-quality development of the Chinese medicine business.
Empowered by R&D, the Group will continue to develop a series of
products and constantly improve its product portfolio. Meanwhile, the
Group will continuously improve the operations and services of TDMalls
to establish a group-oriented operating model for TCM chain clinics.
With the COVID-19 pandemic being brought under control, the Group
will take advantage of the situation to boost domestic businesses while
expanding its presence in international markets, establishing a solid
foundation and strength for scaled development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$532.1
million (Previous Financial Period: HK$410.0 million). For the
Pharmaceuticals and medical technologies business, revenue for the
Year was HK$470.7 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$344.7
million), benefiting from the strong sales growth recorded by its pediatric
drug, Tuoen®lbuprofen, as well as the satisfactory sales performance
of other major products. For the Chinese medicine business, revenue
for the Year decreased to HK$48.4 million (Previous Financial Period:
HK$54.1 million) due to the adoption of a more stringent credit
policy. For the Medical and healthcare services, revenue for the Year
amounted to HK$13.0 million (Previous Financial Period: HK$11.2
million). Gross profit was HK$255.5 million (Previous Financial Period:
HK$188.6 million), and the gross profit margin increased from 46.0% in
the Previous Financial Period to 48.0% in the Year, mainly due to the
improvement in the quality of the Group’s revenue and the proportion
of product sales with higher gross profit increased. At the same time,
the Group strictly controlled costs, and the selling and distribution
expense ratio decreased by about 1.7 percentage points. The selling
and distribution expenses for the Year were HK$186.5 million (Previous
Financial Period: HK$150.6 million).
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Administrative expenses were HK$85.0 million (Previous Financial
Period: HK$63.5 million), with average monthly expenses maintaining
at a similar level as the Previous Financial Period. R&D expenses
decreased from HK$27.1 million in the Previous Financial Period to
HK$13.1 million in the Year. Some R&D projects have entered the
registration stage and are expected to start sales in 2024. For the latest
progress of major R&D projects, please refer to the business review
section above.

Other income and net income decreased from HK$9.8 million
in the Previous Financial Period to HK$8.3 million in the Year, mainly
due to the decrease in government subsidies during the Year, including
government epidemic subsidies.

In summary, the loss attributable to owners of the parent
decreased significantly from HK$41.0 million in the Previous Financial
Period to HK$24.2 million in the Year. The change in profitability was
mainly attributable to the Group’s business performance analyzed
above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity continued to stay in a healthy position.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalent
of HK$162.4 million (31 December 2022: HK$340.3 million), of which
approximately 84.0% were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) with the
remaining in Hong Kong dollar, Australian dollar, Euro, Macau pataca
and United States dollar, as well as unutilised bank loan facilities
of HK$148.3 million. As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings
maturing in one year and maturing within two to five years amounted
to HK$96.5 million and HK$8.4 million respectively, which were
denominated in RMB and bear interest at the rate from China LPR
+0.45% to China LPR + 1%. Since the borrowings are lesser than the
cash and cash equivalents, there is no net debt (total borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents) of the Group. With this strong financial
position, the Group has sufficient financial resources to finance its
operational and capital expenditures.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, RMB, United States dollar and
Australian dollar. The Group has sales and investments in foreign
operations which use currencies other than its functional currency RMB.
As such, the Group has some exposures to foreign currency risks.
The management from time to time determines suitable measures,
such as entering into forward currency contracts, to lessen exposure
to exchange rate fluctuations in material transactions denominated
in currencies other than RMB. The Group did not enter into any
forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31
December 2023.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged certain right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment with carrying value HK$254.0
million (31 December 2022: HK$253.8 million) in aggregate to secure a
bank loan facility granted to the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately
863 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms the qualifications
and experience of the employees concerned.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save as the acquisition of the remaining 45% interest in
Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., later renamed as
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) Limited (“Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan)”), held by a minority shareholder, there was no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Year”) except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of C.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. Having considered the current business operation and the
size of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan
has been the key leader of the Group, who has been primarily involved
in formulation of business strategies and determination of the overall
direction of the Group. He has also been chiefly responsible for the
Group’s operations as he directly supervises the management team of
the Group. Taking into account the continuation of the implementation
of the Group’s business plans, the Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) consider that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
has reviewed this situation periodically.

Value, Mission and Vision

The Group adheres to the philosophy of “Tianda for health!” as
core value, which shows the Company’s continuous commitment to the
passion and pursuit of health and care. The Group fully realizes our
social responsibilities and insists on the corporate mission - to adopt
market-driven and innovative approach; follow international standards
and assure quality & safety control; strengthen good management
practice; value talents; enhance research and development; offer
quality products. Focus on cost efficiency and create better returns
for shareholders; improve service to make our business partners more
satisfied; boost up the incentive mechanism to make our employees
more devoted to work. Our vision is committed to becoming a leading
pharmaceutical enterprise that sets its footholds in China while seeking
to expand its presence worldwide.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The Board currently consists of 7 Directors, comprising 2
Executive Directors, 2 Non-executive Directors and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhong Tao (appointed on 29 August 2023)
Mr. Feng Quanming

Mr. Shen Bo (resigned on 29 August 2023)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong

Dr. Xian Yanfang (appointed on 27 June 2023)
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa (resigned on 1 July 2023)

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors
and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

At least one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting (AGM), and all
directors are subject to this provision.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure
independent view and input are available to the Board and established
procedures to enable directors, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances to enable
them to discharge their duties at the Company’s expenses. The articles
of association of the Company contain description of responsibility and
operation procedures of the Board. The Board meets regularly to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism

The Board has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism (the “Mechanism”) which sets out the principles and
guidelines for the Company to ensure independent view and input to be
available to the Board.

Continuing improvement and development of the Board of the
Company and its committee processes and procedures through Board
independence evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback
mechanism for improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths,
and identifying the areas that need improvement or further development.
The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company need
to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance.

The Mechanism enhances INEDs contribution with independent
views to the Board as below:

. Invite INEDs to serve as the audit, remuneration,
nomination and if any, other Board committees;
. Encourage INEDs to raise questions and voice their

concerns during the meetings;

. Take the lead by INEDs where potential conflicts of interest
arise;
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. Keep INEDs up-to-date with the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries so that INEDs may scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitor performance reporting
when (1) annually reviewing the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board and assessing the independence
of INEDs; (2) recommending INED to be re-elected at
the AGM of the Company; and/or (3) recommending any
individual as new INED, the nomination committee of the
Company shall take into account the contribution by each
INED/individual.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of such Mechanism on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
year:

. developed and reviewed the Company’s policies,
including the Board Diversity Policy, mechanism to ensure
independent view of the Board and the Shareholders
Communication Policy, and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations;

. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

. reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. reviewed recommendation on the appointment of new
directors and fixed their remunerations;

. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors; and

. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and

regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.

>

i
o

EEUIERITES TRAATR
HBABWERHIER » UEH
UIERTEETUBERATE
BEREEEEENRENELT
BEMBMNAENRI > WEM)
EEETEETTNEE  RE
RIS T » UKL IEIIIE
BITEENEILM ; QEERQT]
RERBEAS EHEBIIIENT
EREMT; RHE)EBEAE
AAMBPBILIERITES ) A
TIRREECREEESRBIIE
BITEE EANER -

EFESFRIEREIZARME -

L

CTERERITHEEERRE 821
FREEEZ TIIEE !

HlE AR AR A B Z BUER (B
BAREFZRUBIEREE
EFEEZNIEBRRRRBESE
BER) » MR EEEAHRRKRE
Mo LEHEEER ;

BAREREERSREEAR
ZIEBINRFEEEEE ;

B REREQBTETERRK
EERESTHZBRKRER ;

BRI ESNERILE
EHF

HE B REREAREER
%?Zﬁ?ﬁ%&éﬁ?%@ﬂ
» &

BHAAREFTEEESRTAZ
BERRIRE L RAMECI1TE R
EERAWMENZIME -

EFEIREXHRE

FABERFEEREMAMEERE
BEERUKREFRRZEMEN > LR
REBITHE -

24 EEEEEEEE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the year.

Directors’ meeting

During the year, the Board held 5 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors BEX HEBITEERY
Executive Directors: WMITESE .
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FAXHERE 5/5

(Chairman and Managing Director) (BEERFEFILTE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang aXERE 5/5
Non-executive Directors: JEMITES :
Mr. Zhong Tao (appointed on 29 August 2023)  $E;E 4 (722023FE8 5290 & 1F) 11
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPRE 5/5
Mr. Shen Bo (resigned on 29 August 2023) o S (7220238 H29H BHE) 3/4
INEDs: BIFMITES
Mr. Lam Yat Fai N =h P 5/5
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 5/5
Dr. Xian Yanfang (appointed on 27 June 2023) &S 81 (522023568 27H Z1E) 112
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa (resigned on 1 July 2023) FEOEE L E (FR2023FE 7B 10 B E) 313

The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.
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Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements. Also, the Group’s business are under the direct
responsibility of the two Executive Directors, who are the senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of the
Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Dr. Xian Yanfang
and one Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 3 meetings during the year to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Individual Executive Directors, the Non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the year
are as follows:
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The work performed by the remuneration committee during the
year includes the followings:

. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation to
the Board for approval;

. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific packages;

. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
structure/package of new directors; and

. reviewed the revised remuneration policy and term of
reference of the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
Executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the year, the nomination committee held 3 meetings.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the nomination committee during the year
includes the follows:

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board;

. reviewed the revised board diversity policy, nomination
policy and terms of reference of the nomination committee;

. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;

. made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
new directors; and

. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of
Directors at the 2023 AGM.

Apart from the resignation of Mr. Shen Bo and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
as the directors of the Company and the appointment of Mr. Zhong Tao
and Dr. Xian Yanfang as the directors of the Company, there was no
other change on the composition of the Board during the year.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The
Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out the approach
on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting on the board diversity on an annual basis.
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Measurable Objectives

Appointments of directors will not only be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, but also will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board currently comprises of six male and one female
Directors. The female representation is about 49% at workforce level.

Review of this Policy

The Board has reviewed this policy on an annual basis to ensure
its continued effectiveness.

For compliance with the Listing Rules and the board diversity
policy, the following measurable objectives were reviewed and
implemented:

. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors;

. at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

. at least 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is

specialised in;

. at least two of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience; and

. no single gender Board.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy. The nomination
committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. When it is
necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional director, the
nomination committee identifies or selects candidates as recommended
to the committee pursuant to the criteria set out in the nomination
policy. Based upon the recommendation of the nomination committee,
the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition,
pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, every director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years and
shall be eligible for re-election. The nomination committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the Company, expertise and
professional qualifications of the retiring directors, who offered himself/
herself for re-election at the AGM, to determine whether such director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in the nomination policy. The
nomination committee reviews and assesses the independence of all
INEDs on an annual basis.

The nomination policy which sets out the procedures and
criteria for the selection, appointment and reappointment of Directors.
The selection criteria that nomination committee has to consider
in evaluating and selecting a candidate for directorship include the
following:

. character and integrity;

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

. requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;
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. any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

. willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

. such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the nomination committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

NOMINATION PROCESS
Appointment of New Director

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

3. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
nomination committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

4. The nomination committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

5. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the nomination
committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

1. The nomination committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

2. The nomination committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

3. The nomination committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/ or applicable laws
and regulations.

Re-election of INED at General Meeting

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of
the relevant general meeting:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

2. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board believes the
individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity (including gender
diversity) of the Board.
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The nomination committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs, to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations from time to time and
maintain good corporate governance practice.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Dr. Xian Yanfang and
one Non-executive Director, Mr. Zhong Tao. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard,;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the year, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details of
individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the audit committee during the year
includes the followings:

. reviewed the financial statements for the nine months
ended 31 December 2022 and for the six months ended 30
June 2023;

. considered and approved of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

. considered and reviewed the scope of internal audit,
findings and recommendation;

. reviewed the revised audit policy and term of reference of
audit committee;

. reviewed the internal control and financial reporting matters
of the Company; and

. reviewed arrangement (including investigation and following
action) to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters through
the whistle-blowing policy adopted by the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one Executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.
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During the year, the risk management committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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The work performed by the risk management committee during
the year includes the followings:

. Assisted the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control;

. Oversaw and reviewed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis; and

. Reviewed the revised risk management policy and term of
reference of risk management committee.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will take into account factors
such as results of operations, working capital, financial position, future
prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other factors which
the directors of the Company may consider relevant from time to time.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Dividend Policy does not constitute any commitment or obligation of the
Company to declare dividends.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they
have complied with the Model Code throughout the year.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services and non-audit services,
including reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year
provided by Messrs. Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to HK$1,454,000 and
HK$370,520 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on pages 57 to 63.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department to assess
its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the audit
committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems at least annually to ensure its continued effectiveness and
adequacy.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks (including environmental, social and governance
(‘ESG”) risks) within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks.
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2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management (including ESG risks) and internal control activities
of the Group — regular meetings with each business unit to
ensure principals risk are properly managed, and new or changing
risks are identified.

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
(including ESG risks) and internal controls — review of the annual
internal audit report and consideration of the audit committee’s
recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the audit committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance
and reporting, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the audit committee.

In respect of the year, the Board considered the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management of the Group have been
identified. The Board also considered the resources, qualification and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions adequate. Nevertheless,
the Group would take further steps to continually improve its risk
management and internal control systems.

Annual Report 2023

2. EHEEaRERAEEZERERE (8
BIRIE - HERERRAR) RAEEE
EH-AREFEMUETENSE
ﬁﬁEE éﬂizﬂﬁ&E&%%

3. EFTEERIRZEREEEAKRE
B (BRERE -t ERERAR) kA
BEEZANARREE-BREE
NEBEZBERERBEREZEGZHE
BER-

R EIRELR (ER A ERERIE) R T
H%FEHZH%HFT$$IZHB@
[ 1S B B RIEH o

FEBZEAREEREFERRIRER
W&%W%E*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%@%ﬁﬁ*
ERETEREGRIER - #AREEE
FEBRRRESEEEE BEEASR
St RIT R R A BREREE » ﬁ%ﬁ%aa
REEGRTEREE B Z %8 TR
FEENRBEERABEEFEZAENR
|‘$O

REFEE > EFETBEEEREZES
RAERBABEZIFIERAA P EZEGE
ZHRHW  EFENERAEABTEEHR
MHEERBESTERESATIRE - HE
REARRNERBEMZER - BETERE
RiER > UWRBIMERZEIRERE
HREREES -

EFEREABELRS ZELKRE

REEg v HEERENBHEANIZE
ZER-
TEEEMS  EETTVALEERZ

EREERAMEZEFIEERNRITRE - B
BATREZEARBISHA BT ELRE
EzMH KE - oREERAREERZ
BB - EFETRAELERTES A
BEZAMBREBESTEHZER BEE
RSB~ IBallst B RFAE IR o IS EE
ERENE-—FITHFEAERREER
BRI o

2003 [l



38 EEEEEEEE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEGRE

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person
with the company secretary of the Company is the Deputy Financial
Controller of the Company. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To further improve the corporate governance of the Company
and conform to the core standards for shareholder protection set out in
Appendix A1 of the Listing Rules, a special resolution was passed at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 June 2023 to amend
the articles of association of the Company. The latest memorandum of
association and articles of association of the Company was published
on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and investors, so the shareholders communication
policy is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The objective of shareholder communication is to provide
our shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that
they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
The Company establishes various communication channels with its
shareholders and investors and employs a range of communication
tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business
imperatives. These include general meetings, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. The Company believes that the
AGM is one of the principal channels for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Board welcomes shareholders to express
their opinions at the AGM. Directors and external auditor attend the
AGM to address shareholders’ queries. Separate resolutions are
proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the re-election of individual Directors. The notice of the
meeting, the annual report and the circular containing information on
the proposed resolutions are sent to shareholders before the meeting
in accordance to the listing rules and the articles of association of
the Company. Procedure for voting by poll had been read out at the
general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were taken by poll. The
Company announced results of the poll in the manner prescribed under
the Listing Rules.

The 2023 AGM of the Company was held on 27 June 2023. A
notice convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 24 May 2023
was dispatched to the shareholders together with the annual report
for nine months ended 31 December 2022. A separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman of the meeting in respect of each separate
issue, including re-election of Directors. In addition, an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) of the Company was held on 9 November
2023 to approve revision of annual cap for an existing continuing
connected transaction and renewal of a framework agreement. Save
aforesaid, no other general meeting was held during the year.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo, the Non-executive Director and
three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer questions raised from
shareholders. Mr. Feng Quanming, the Non-executive Director was
unable to attend the AGM due to his other business commitment.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman, Mr. Lui Man Sang, the
Executive Director, the two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhong
Tao and Mr. Feng Quanming, and three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat
Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Dr. Xian Yanfang attended the EGM to
answer questions raised from shareholders.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company is committed to ensuring the shareholders as
well as the investment community, are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to current and relevant information about the Company
(including its financial and operational performance, business plan and
strategy, material developments, corporate governance and structures
etc), in order to enable the shareholders to have better understanding of
the Company as well as to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to let shareholders and the investment community to enhance
communication with the Company. Information shall be communicated
to shareholders and the investors through:

. continuous disclosure of all material information of the
Company;

. periodic disclosure through financial reports (interim and
annual reports) of the Company;

. investor presentations;

. AGMs and other shareholders’ meetings of the Company;
and

. the Company’s website at www.tiandapharma.com and the
website of the Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy on an annual basis and considered
that such policy remains effective in enhancing timely, transparent and
open communication between the Company and the shareholders.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A whistleblowing
policy is in place to create a mechanism for the employees and
other stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties. A designated email account and a
dedicated hotline have been set up for this purpose. The identity of
each whistleblower and all information provided in connection with a
whistleblowing report will be treated with the strictest confidence.

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group has established policies and procedures to deal with
money laundering in its operations. In addition, the Group also has
established prevention system by setting up communication channels
for faults and anti-corruption reporting. The whistleblowing system can
handle any breach of laws and regulations.

R R IB R B R

EABDBNBAERRRRIREE > 199
BENGEE - HEREREAATHNER
(BEAEMBREERRE  EHFERE
B EXRER - CEERKRRABDRES) »
ERRE QT EEME > URERREE
BB RTITEEER > WERRRIKEE
BARRBMNAEEBRE - AT LUEB T HIRER
RERKEERMEN -

. RHERBEAATMAEEANENR

. EHRBAABNMBERS (PHK
FERSE) ;

. REEB{E

. EREIRRBFAEREEREKX
g &
. A B 48 uEwww tiandapharma.com & &

BRBREERBRAB ML o

EXSEEERRREBEMABRIAT
BRBRBRME > M8 AR 2AE
BARNBERRZERE - BRAKARN
@ o

BHRER

ERBBNERNFRESRENR
B HRABRMAEN - ARFHETRREK
REARIL—EFRERHASEIREECH
MEHRRAENITAREER - 5L
EERREFBARAMNFRI[HGT
BRI - BUBBANGHRBRBER
BN —ERRBRERE

RESRERE

S B HIET BRI A2 7 AFE 3 2 75
Bk RERIES) o IS REBBEBFTILA
BRREGHEBERE > RIS
BHREF TR EMEEIRERITS




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGHRE

FAIR DISCLOSURE

The Company uses its best endeavors to distribute material
information about the Group to all interested parties as timely as
possible. Information about the Group can be found on the Company’s
website including descriptions of each business and the interim and
annual reports of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.

Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the year, the Group
promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.com,
where updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations
Department whose contact details are as follows:

Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558

Email: ir@tianda.com
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an EGM. Set out below are procedures by which shareholders
may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put forward enquires to the Board,;
and (3) put forward proposals at general meetings. The procedures
are subject to the Company’s articles of association and applicable
legislation and regulations.

(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any shareholder or shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per cent of such of the
paid up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s office.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information of the
requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of business of
Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower, No. 1 Tim
Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to ir@tianda.com for the
attention of the Board.

(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene

the EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
R&D, manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and
healthcare products, and investment in the development of Chinese
medicine industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year containing a fair
review of the business during the year and discussion of future business
development of the Group and the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group is set out in the sections headed “Report of the
Chairman” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 11
to 12 and pages 13 to 20 respectively of this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders are covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report”
published by the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
segment for the year is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 23.1% of the Group’s total revenue while the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 9.5% of the Group’s
total revenue. In addition, for the year, the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 49.9% of the Group’s total
purchases while the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 29.0% of the Group's total purchases.

During the year, to the knowledge of the Directors, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd., together with its subsidiaries is one
of the five major customers of the Group; and Tianda Group and Hongta
Tobacco (Group) Limited indirectly hold the respective of 60% and 40%
equity interest in Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Company Limited
which is one of the five major suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 64 to 65.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKO0.26 cent per share (for the nine months ended 31 December
2022: HKO0.26 cent per share) for the year. The proposal to declare
and pay this final dividend will be submitted to the Shareholders at
forthcoming AGM to be held on 7 June 2024. Subject to approval of the
shareholders at the AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable
to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on Wednesday, 19 June 2024 and the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 17 June 2024 to
Wednesday, 19 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 14 June 2024. The proposed final dividend will be paid on
Friday, 28 June 2024 following the approval of the shareholders at the
AGM.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 184 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity set out on
page 68 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution as computed in accordance with the Companies Act (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands of amounted to HK$355.7 million.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable purposes during the year
amounted to HK$11,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Feng Quanming

Mr. Zhong Tao (appointed on 29 August 2023)
Mr. Shen Bo (resigned on 29 August 2023)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong

Dr. Xian Yanfang (appointed on 27 June 2023)
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa (resigned on 1 July 2023)

Annual Report 2023

MBBERRE

AEERBERENBREE HEZ
%%ELX&EE&%%Z*EEEﬁE’?ZKEiE%
1848 ©

Y% ~ BB Rkt

AEEZME  BEREBENEEE
2 BWHERRE S M BRRNI S -

iz s

RABZRAFHBHN GG HRE
Pfi5E28 o

#f

FEBNRAFEEZ HEESFBEHN
REHRFOBEZFGETEIHRK -

ARk fEE

12023F12831H » A AT IRERE
BEATE (RE]) stEZ ot D IRHEE
A3(E5 5708 BT ©

=B

FEERAFEREEBNZERS
11,0007 7T ©

BEF

REEERERBEEFREABEZEAA
BEES

HITESE .

X RsE
(BEFERFEFIISIE)
BXERE

ERITESE:

ERELE

$EE A (R20238 8290 H1F)
S S (FR2023588 298 )

BIIEITES ©

HWEELE

FEESE L (1R2023F682THEF)
M EE S A (720235781 H BHE)

003 [



46 ESEEEEGAE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

In accordance with Articles 88 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Zhong Tao and Dr. Xian Yanfang shall hold office until
the forthcoming AGM of the Company and being eligible, they will offer
themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Articles 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Fang Wen Quan, Mr. Feng Quanming and Mr. Chiu
Sung Hong shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM and being eligible, they will offer themselves for re-election.

INEDs and Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of 2
years and are subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests of the Company’s Directors,
chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(SFO), were as follows:
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Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EFEuR S5 R 8B BoLE
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note)
AXERE SIEEEEE (H1zt)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting held on 28 August 2020, the
Company approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) and the terms of the Scheme are as follows.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
recognise the future and/or past contributions of the participants (as
defined in the Scheme) to the Company, and to attract and retain such
important participants and/or to maintain a continuing relationship, with
participants who have contributed to the result, growth, success and
benefit of the Group, and in relation to administrative staff, to recruit and
retain experienced and talented individuals and/or to reward their past
contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 28 August 2020. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an
offer to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 28 August 2020. The Company can grant options under
the Scheme for subscription of up to a total of 215,004,188 shares,
representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of adoption, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liability incurred by him or her as such director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
or her favour, or in which he or she is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRE
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At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
BRRBE 515 FiEZRH#E Bt
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note 1)
AREH BEEEAA (Hfaz1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,219,579,370 56.72
(Note 1)
B XERE RELZEER (Hfaz1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.05
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (“SMST”)
EEEXRRERK (5FE) BEEBA (Htaz2)
BRAR (TEEEE))
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
Holding Co., Ltd. (*SPHL") (Note 2)
LT EBBEEERMNBERAT REZEFAR (Ht5t2)
(TLis8ezE))
Shanghai Industrial Investment Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.05
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (“SIIC") (Note 2)
EEEXE (EE) ARAE REZEFE (Htz£2)
(TEEEE))
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.66

Limited (Hongta)
AIEEE (EE) BIR
BEAHR

Notes:

k

BmBEBEA

Htat -

(1) These 1,219,579,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. (1) ZHFE12195T9310RMHBERARAEBRELS
Mr. Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, BoAXHERERRAEEBEEZIBRE
accordingly, is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,219,579,370 I BERARRAKEEBRERF 2 Lt
shares owned by Tianda Group. 1,219,579,370B IR IP B AR ©

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2) 5%%5280,517, 124G L BB EERER ©
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling TEBRERRE L EEBEST#E ML
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be BEEA EBENERRKERE -Fibt > £8
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST. EERESRERFAAN LEREMERTZ

L 31280,517, 724X R 17 P E B HE %

= 40
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at
31 December 2023, no short position was recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an
annual confirmation of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transactions

During the year, the Group conducted the following transactions
with connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
under the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

SUBSCRIPTION OF INTEREST IN A FUND

On 19 April 2023, Tianda Biotech Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a subscription agreement
to subscribe (the “Subscription) an investment fund (the “Fund”) at a
total of subscription amount of HK$10.0 million. The Fund is managed
by Tianda Asset Management Limited (“TAML”), which is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of
the Company.

*  For identification purpose only

Lt e B AT E o 112023512
A318 > X RBREFF KA G 1% 555336
1P B Z B Ml S| ERK A ER ©

BREXIREEN > AAFLEENS
ERIALI2023F 12831 BRIAARAE5%K
NEBETRAZEMNHECHE -

BE - HEKRBOEAATZ EHES

FABHEEMAMBRARDREFEERN
BHEREE HENBRIASATEMF LHE
%o

FEBIULIEHES

5 EHRAFE.1305% - AABEURE
BBEUFATESMNHBIUMFRELZE
EHER - xRBRAABEBILIFRITES
BABIAL

7

MEXZRFERERS

RERX%

REFEER > FAEFEERFEANLES
UTFREG » ZEXZRE LHRAERTF
B35 BRE EHRAIS4AMRAETIREE

wEEEED

12202348198 » RAEWHEMAB R
AR (—HEERARNEZERBAR) 571L
REE ((RBER)IE-—EREES
(TEx)) > MBI A1008 BT - ZE
EHRAEEEEARABD (RAXEEE
B)) (R ABERRRRAEENEZEEE
MEAR) B -
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The Board believes that the Subscription represents a good
investment opportunity taking into account the existing market
conditions, business outlook and capital expenditure plan as the
Company anticipates a reasonable return in the medium term from the
Subscription.

TAML is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Tianda Group,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, TAML is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the
Subscription constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Subscription are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 April 2023.

ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDIARY

On 1 August 2023, Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., (“Yunyu
Bio-Pharmaceutical”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Yunnan Li Nuo Biotechnology Limited* (“Li Nuo”), the 45% minority
shareholder of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan), which was 55%
owned by the Group at the date of the Agreement. Pursuant to the
Agreement, Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical would acquire this remaining
45% interest in Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) held by Li Nuo (the
“Acquisition”) at a consideration of RMB23.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$25.2 million). Upon the completion of the Acquisition
on 30 September 2023, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) became an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Board considers upon completion of the Acquisition, Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. This would facilitate more effective implementation of
the business strategies and business expansion plans.

As Li Nuo is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level by virtue of being a substantial shareholder of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan), the Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Acquisition are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 1 August 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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EFERATEIERTR - ZHA
RREAZHFE > BEEFER PR
ESSENR HRXBEEARERK -

RAREEEEATRFERKRRRK
EENEZEEZERBAR - Fit > R L
mRA > RABEEEAEATNEEA
T MR L HRRB14AE > SV EIRE
BAABN—IRFAERS °

BRRBEERIENBHNAAT S
2023F 4819 Z A o

WEE—RE B AR IFERER

1R202358B1H » A RBZEMEA
AEFREYREERAT ((EX4EYHR
) BRFARAEE (2R (BFEEEFE
55%0% 1) 45% MR ER VDB R ER A EE
MEMAERAE (TFIEE]) ST IREEER
#& (B RS EFEEYRER
LA R #82,3508 7T (10 & 12 492,5208 B 7T)
MRERBEFETENRAEE (BEE) R
BR4A5%EI BE R (TUR BB E 1)) © §220235F9A
P WIBEIAETEME » RAREE (E/) R
ARATNBIZEENBAT

EFXERRWBEFETNE » RKE
X (B AL ARNEZEEEREBLAR
SERERMMERER R RERHR
=R

HRFFERE AT ME QS E IR
BAL MZRREBRAKREE (BER) NE
ERF > EIt > BB EHRBE14AF > IR
BERBHEATN—HRERS °
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of these continuing
connected transactions which are subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 1 April 2022, a framework agreement was entered into
between the Company and Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited*
(“TCH (China)”) for governing the transactions of purchasing printed
instruction leaflets, packaging boxes and related products and designing
services from TCH (China) and its subsidiaries by the Group for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025. Details
of the transactions are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
1 April 2022.

The Company had changed its financial year end date from
31 March to 31 December on 25 November 2022. In order to align with
the Company’s new financial year end date, the Company revised on 29
December 2022 the relevant period of the existing annual caps of the
continuing connected transactions so that the revised annual caps cover
the period/year ending on 31 December. Details of the revisions are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2022.

TCH (China) is a subsidiary of Tianda Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, so it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework
agreement and the transactions contemplated under these framework
agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HEMERS

REFEER > AEFRLEFEALES
ETRG > ZEXSBRELHRAUBR
BRAERS - ZEHEMERZAEBT L
MRABUATRIET ZHRERE » HFE
BT

RBRAE - BRI MERERKIRES

1202254818 » A AR R AKX 1L
PR (PE) BRRAR (MFRAE (RE) 1)
STMERE ) UEEREBRRANIE
(PE) REMBATRBERRBEE - &
HSAREHERRRARBZZERS
FHAI 2022548 1H 2025538318 A& HA
—F - BRARZHBENALXE BHERA2022
F4E1EZRE °

ATIR2022FE11825H IR H BB &F
EMN4EREMIAMAEXRA128318
AEANBZHVBREEEEHRE—
o ANATR20224E128298  EETIRAE
BRABRXGZEELRZAEREAR » LUE
BIETEE LIRRENREZE128318 124
B/ FE BREITEEIENESATBEE
A20202FE 128298 2 AL

RAXEE (PE) AEABERKRRXR
AEBZHBAGR  SHRELHRAUELE
NEZAEAL B> REBELHRAE
14AR > IER DR RIBZEER G R RET
ZRBERERBZFHERERS o
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The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the year are as follows:

Annual Report 2023

ERFERER SN ASEFEZFE L
REBRZEIIRMT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EuES FE LR ERXSEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBENRIEAPAE - BRER

packaging boxes and related 18 A 2 o e AR 7S

products and services 24,000 14,891

PROVIDING PRODUCTS AND LOGISTICS SERVICES

On 9 April 2021, the Company entered into a 3-year term
framework agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.*
(“SPHL"). (the “2021 Framework Agreement’) for a term of three years
from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024, pursuant to which the Group from
time to time enters into transactions by providing products (including
pharmaceuticals products, Chinese medicines and healthcare products)
and logistics services to each other during the ordinary and usual
course of business. Details of the 2021 Framework Agreement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 April 2021.

As the Company had changed its financial year end date from
31 March to 31 December on 25 November 2022. In order to align
with the Company’s new financial year end date, the Company revised
the relevant period of the existing annual caps of the continuing
connected transactions so that the revised annual caps cover the
year ended on 31 December 2023 and three months ended 31 March
2024 on 29 December 2022. Details of the revisions are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 29 December 2022.

On 20 September 2023, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement with SPHL (the “2023 Supplemental
Agreement”) to revise the existing annual cap and the expiry date of the
2021 Framework Agreement from 31 March 2024 to 31 December 2023,
in order to align the annual cap relevant period with the financial year
end date of the Group. Details of the 2023 Supplemental Agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 September 2023 and
the Company’s circular dated 19 October 2023.

A resolution regarding the 2023 Supplemental Agreement has
been passed at the extraordinary meeting of the Company held on
9 November 2023.

fe i E m R YR EC I E IR TS

202154898 » KA E) B kg e B
EERMARLAE (TLE8EE)) 5T —1%
= FHMEZE R (2021 ERBEL) » &
FAER2021FE4B1H BB E2024F38318 4
H=F  BItAERT—KAKEEE£HEE
2 ERREHEAREER (BIEMEE
FRERFREER MY RERERE - B
2021 EZE s IR E Y A A B HHR 420214
4B ZAE o

KATR202F 1B IBEMBEE
MEE BRI ANHENA12831H - A4
AT ZHMBEEEEHRE— &2
B FR2022F 128298 » BT IRBIFERER
SZ2FE LRZBRAAR > UERETEE
FIRRESE2028F12AMBLEEEREE
202438 31HIE=E R - BRAETFBEHMN
AT AEIA202FE 128298 2 A% -

122023598208 » A AT gLk
B — @R (M2023/ iR » U
ETRAEE LRERE2021EERRZENE
7 B EAE2024 3831 H1E57 42023F 128 31
B> USEFEELREMBMALRERNM
HEEEHFHRE—X - BR023W T H:E
HBEN A AT HEA2023FE9820BZ A
ERAAT HERA2023F108198 Z @K o

—IEA 023/ R EAVRZRER
RATR2023FMBIBRITZRRFRIAK
TLEREE-
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As SPHL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, which
indirectly holds 13.05% interest in the issued share capital of the
Company. SPHL is therefore a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the framework agreement
and the transactions contemplated under the framework agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the year are as follows:

LBREAAATNEIERE > @i
FEARBB#HITRAB3.05% 2 k> 1R
BEHRAEUATZ > EBBERALAERR
BINREAL - Eit s ERBHEKREET
FRBETHNZERSEMERBELTR
AITHFERERS -

LRBFERER SN ASFEFEZFE L
REBRZEIIRMOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap ~ transaction amount
EpEn FELIR ERRAEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Products and logistics services LEBEREERAERREMHN
provided by SPHL Group to B m R R IR
the Group 7,000 -
Products and logistics services FEER L BRESEERMN
provided by the Group to SPHL Group E R B X BR 75 31,000 29,913

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

1R % £ AR Bl 85 14A.550% > B IZ IE#
TEFEBR LHFEEMERS > WLH#ET

1. RERFANFTEBRZ—RKH
BEBBRERET

2. ZEXNZE—MEEERETL
04

3. ZEXHZREBAERMIGRIFRE
17> MAFHERBATEE > I
HEERBMBRRZEREME -

AT ZHEMZ K G NEHAEE
ZEMAERZFEREIZFHER
B RAE R RIE (BB %R A ZRI3000)
58300058 (RMER]) BELH BB FEEF
BB 1z > 12 E BB E5HED
AGELZ (BHHRA) FT40RH K EE
(_LE AR RY) BT it 15 B R IE 5 55 BY 12 3L A IR
FEEETT » ok B 5t BT SR 5 P EAR R B S
EHRRIE14A61E 2 RE » BAAEER L
XPREZFEMERSEHERERR
R BERHTIEBERRER o
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Pursuant to the 2023 Supplemental Agreement, the 2021
Framework Agreement shall expire on 31 December 2023. In such
connection, on 20 September 2023 the Company and SPHL entered
into a framework agreement (the “2023 Framework Agreement”) in
relation to the sales of the products from the Group to SPH Group
for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026. Details
of the 2023 Framework Agreement are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 September 2023 and the Company’s circular
dated 19 October 2023.

A resolution regarding the 2023 Framework Agreement has
been passed at the extraordinary meeting of the Company held on
9 November 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and complied with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his or her associates
and executive is involved in dealing his or her own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Annual Report 2023
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the year.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst
& Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024

RAUZARFTFRE

MAEAB A EZ ARAENREEEF
MoMREAFER > AAB)—HERFEHR
AIFffEEZ ARFTIRE ©

% ELEm

AT REMNE QB R E E20235F12
BIBLEEFEEZMERRELHZT KRG
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
GENVEE7 S e

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY =

To the shareholders of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 64 to 183, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2023, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023 in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

LXK BRI E B
BB RBREEI7IN
K3 — BE2748
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FEEtEE

HRBESEE

HREBAFFEERERFMANEEN
i BAHTPRSMBRENEARS
EEMNFR BEEFHREEHRMASHER
HEMBERRRHASRFETREN-
RAFEHEESHEHEBNER - 9t
TXEFEMS > LN XARRHEFAN
BN EEARETFENFE -

BMERITARS [RHETHLF 4
BB RERAENE ) EHRRNEE
BEAERZEFEFENESE - EIt > AN
B OERTARYRAMBRREAH
BERH T ATMRNIZRF - Bt 1ZFHE
REERENTRENER > ARMAME
MG EMBRENEFERIEHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEHNFAEEARELFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

& i E R

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries with carrying amount of approximately HK$95.2 million.
120235128310 » EEEEWRBNE AT MELENEEEK
T & %849 2395,200,00078 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:

B EEREEELEEREZ TG
FFasE

() engaged our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the valuation methodologies
adopted by management and the terminal
growth rates and discount rates applied;

() ZARMANABLEEXFLEEREE
REZMERERERAZ KA RER
RITEE |
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Key audit matter

FEEtEE

Annual Report 2023

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEHNFAEEAREFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

2 E T (48)

The Group’s management performed impairment assessment of
goodwill related to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) by estimating
the recoverable amount based on value-in-use calculations. The value
in use of the CGUs was determined by management based on the
operating cash flow forecasts of the CGUs, which required the use
of key assumptions including the budgeted revenue, budgeted gross
margin and expected growth rate based on management’s business
plan on operation of the CGUs, the current market circumstances and
management’s expectation of the market development, as well as
suitable discount rates.
EEEEEEREERAEEFABAFTIREESEMHEIRS
ELBSUARNEEETREN G REELBENUNERE
EHEEERBRSELBEUNKERERERAIEE  H
PRECHANTIERIVEENEEENRESELBEAMNE
EEFHENBEERA - FEENZNERERE Bl
LERNMEEBHMRERENTER > UNBEENEIREEX -

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in
the impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.

R (5T A0 E BRI ROR B ST 0 K B IR FE RO 1S 7K T2 1 iR DA R
FRd R EXREEE > KRB UEEHRMANEAIFEZEE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the
disclosures of the balances of goodwill are included in notes 3 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

FEEHE KRG UKREEERNIRBH N GSMBERE
Bff 5235215 ©

(ii

(if)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(iv)

enquired of management in relation to the
key assumptions, and evaluated them by
benchmarking against historical results and/
or independent data;
TERRREATIERE > LiBAMA
FEE R B L BR LB LR R
R

evaluated the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BBLEBRBERFEELRE > 51E
MRRERENMFRER BT 2R
MRFERAZIERE;

tested a selection of data inputs used in
the cash flow forecasts against supporting
evidence, such as historical financial
information, latest market information
and benchmarking companies’ financial
information; and
RIEXFUERS > NBEMHER
ENMTBERSNMEERATNGRFBEE
B ARREREARERNITDE
B@A &

assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of
impairment assessment in the consolidated
financial statements.

LR SR BRRPBERABETGEN
REREEH -
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEVE 7 e

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

FHRFFHPEERR

BAREFEEHHEFESRAE HE
SRERTHREFHEANGER GREMBR
RERHEPIBZBEMIR SR ©

BAHREMBREANERLEARE
HEEFR  ZfITFAHZFHEFERER
ERAXBIEE R

EERMARGEMBRENES > &
PNEEEFEBEEERER  EIlLBES
ZRHEGERRERGEMBRRIEM
EESBERATRNBEREEEANRSE
HEUFEFEEAHBRRANBR - BN
HZAEBRITHIFE  URKFADBAEER
EEEEAHERRL  RARERELE
Bo-AERE > RABMLLEEMRS -

EEMGRAMBREAKENSRE

BEAREFAEERBEEBGSMA
SEMI(ERMBHREERN) KEEB(AF
Y REEEMPENGEEMBRE > I
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HERFF e $HER M E BBV E RSB R R PR TR
HAREERIE S -

EREEEHBRRE > BRRE
ERENE SEEFECENREND I
TERBERKREARESERAANER
URERBHBEERGER RF &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
GENVEE7 S e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

Annual Report 2023
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HANER > BEHGRESMHREER
EETEERRFRERMERNE KRS
REARESEFRE  THABSERMAR
SHNZBEMRE - ZFER BT FAE
B2) fEHER S - BRULLASN » FPIRVIRE AT
BEEERAR - AAEFMEEEZAS
HEMHEATAEENEEIIERER
& o

BEREESKENFRSE » EFRER
ERB(EREFEN) ETHNES > X
—EAHEBRRAFERBAERIR - HRM
AT LA EREFEERER51HE » IR G IETAM
fth {73 58 %8 = B 4B RE SR P AE 52 B £ A & KR
REMBRERAELEERE > BIARM
BUSEERPRAM AT AR B E K ©

ERB(ERBESER) ETESHA
B RMERTHEXRIE > RETEE
TREEREE o FPITF

« EAIMFHE RN EGFERTME
NGREMBRREEENER
BRIL BV RS - At RMITEFZ
FUEHELERR » URERT
RMEEEESE > (R
BERIVER - ARIFFAES K
BiE RE-BRER ERR
s FEBRASESZ L &
IERAEBRBREAGFMERNEK
RN RSN REZRE
HRME R EAIERRA A

B o

- BEAREESTERBIRERER > L
REHEENBEEF > BEENIL
Y EEEAEERNAEMME
BRER -

003
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CEVE 7 e

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

¢ FHMEEEMRATSERNGE
MR AR & 5HE F AR IR ER AY
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2024

Annual Report 2023
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeiEmAHEEEWmR

Year ended 31 December 2023 2t E 2023512531 HIEF/ZE

Year Nine months
ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE2023F HE202F
12H31H 128318
IEFE LEAEA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
[z F#T FHET
REVENUE A 5 532,089 410,021
Cost of sales HE R KR (276,557) (221,380)
Gross profit EF 255,532 188,641
Other income, gains and losses, net He WA ~ W RE183%8 5 8,275 9,761
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZH (186,458) (150,609)
Administrative expenses TN (84,992) (63,528)
Research and development expenses i 38 7 H (13,105) (27,112)
Finance costs EI= %N 7 (4,946) (5,043)
LOSS BEFORE TAX pRIg ARS8 6 (25,694) (47,890)
Income tax credit FRiSiRigse 10 689 3,647
LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD EE HIEBE (25,005) (44,243)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS HEZ@EEGHE
Other comprehensive loss that will not be PREBREATEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent DEAERCEEZEH
periods: E7ig .
Changes in fair value of equity investments EEARARBEA
designated at fair value through other HezmKREZzZRAE
comprehensive income REZRAREEBEES (525) (1,026)
Exchange differences on translation of the MERAT B FHEREK
Company’s financial statements FrEEZEREEE (1,477) (23,363)
(2,002) (24,389)
Other comprehensive loss that may be RIEBHEEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent PDEEE R BEESEH
periods: VI
Exchange differences on translation of HMENB AR MBREK
subsidiaries’ financial statements FrEEZEREEE (4,476) (48,661)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS TEEHHHEEZ@E
FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD #5i8 (6,478) (73,050)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS TEEHEEESE
FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD 4azE (31,483) (117,293)
continued / ...
B\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEELRHESERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 25 E20234E 12531 A 1L FEZ

Year Nine months

ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

HE20238F #HE202F
12831 128318
ILEE IEAER

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FdaE F#En FET
Loss for the year/period attributable to: PG AFE HARMEIE :
Owners of the parent [SYANGILESD (24,155) (40,977)
Non-controlling interests JEIER (850) (3,266)
(25,005) (44,243)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: FEiEEmEsa4E%E -
Owners of the parent BAFRKRRE (29,834) (111,293)
Non-controlling interests JEIER (1,649) (6,000)
(31,483) (117,293)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAREBEEGFEA HK cent HK cent
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF ik SR AS1E &l AL
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted BEXREE 12 (1.12) (1.91)
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEEIRR

At 31 December 2023 J{20235 12531 H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224F
12A31H 128318
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FEx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - - BEKRRE 13 371,346 352,442
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 41,392 48,066
Goodwill Fé‘l_éa 15 95,230 95,948
Other intangible assets CEFEE 16 20,677 6,126
Deposits ?ﬁ% 21 35,222 26,972
Financial assets at fair value through BARBESAEBRZ
profit or loss ERHEE 17 9,000 -
Equity investments designated at fair value ~ ISEAE QA AEBEFAERE
through other comprehensive income E2EBRBZRARE 18 216 741
Total non-current assets ERBEEME 573,083 530,295
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories FE 19 65,148 48,193
Trade and bills receivables FEE AT BR R R FEE L 22 4 20 104,801 138,752
Prepayments, deposits and FAMNME -EEREE
other receivables €N 21 11,505 26,385
Due from a fellow subsidiary }?EH& EIEE =N E$EE 33(c) 312 1,399
Structured deposits EBEER 22 = 3,167
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEER 23 162,442 340,277
Total current assets REEEMHEE 344,208 558,173
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENER
Trade payables & (T ERFR 24 106,018 71,340
Other payables and accruals HERBMRKRESER 25 88,923 207,330
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s RIBITER 26 96,492 64,674
Lease liabilities EaE 14(b) 5,678 5,630
Due to fellow subsidiaries ARG EY VNG E Q] 33(c) 12,458 9,734
Tax payable FE{IFRIE 3,743 3,717
Total current liabilities mENBEELE 313,312 362,425
NET CURRENT ASSETS TENE ERE 30,896 195,748
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERREIABR
LIABILITIES 603,979 726,043
continued / ...
=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ErETIRR

At 31 December 2023 J{20235 12531 H

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20235 20224F
12831 128318
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FsE F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENE®E
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5 EIRITER 26 8,358 61,972
Lease liabilities HE&E 14(b) 3,069 8,774
Deferred income IREWA = 93
Deferred tax liabilities RERBEEE 27 611 962
Total non-current liabilities JEREIBRAE%E 12,038 71,801
NET ASSETS BEEFE 591,941 654,242
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATKRRELEDR
Share capital [}t 28 215,004 215,004
Reserves E 29 377,067 412,827
592,071 627,831
Non-controlling interests FEIER (130) 26,411
TOTAL EQUITY A 591,941 654,242
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
B axXE
Chairman Executive Director
BEER HITEE

.00 Gl



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2023 20235 12531 H IF EE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRATRREL
Capital Capital Exchange Non-
Share Share  redemption  confribution Cepitel Special  Statutoy  Fairvalue  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
captal -~ premium TSEIVe TSeIVe TeSeIVe Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
EARE  EhHR DREE  ERES Fk
ks k%@ fife B ESHE GUHE  LRRR i fF GREE kg BE e
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TEn  TEn  TEm  TEn  TEn  TEn  TEm  TEn  TEm  TEn TEm A TEnm
AT Aprl 2022 A 215004 395,103 7 8,959 - 3460 30,68 (9%1) (3254 136,809 756,754 23 189075
Loss forthe perit THEER - - - - - - - - - am o (am) BBy ()
Othercomprehensieloss for e ZEHEC2EHE
period:
Changes i far velue of equy  EEARDABEGA
ivesments desipaed ~~ ER2EREZRE
afinelehoughoter  REZAREEEH
comprehensive income - - - - - (104) - - (1029) - (1,006)
Bchangedifeences o~ BEHBERAELL
tanslatonof fnanciel ERER
Salnets - - - - - - M) L I
Tola comprehensiie oss or he - ABHEAGELE
— - - - - - R O O N
Captal conrbuton rom FiERERTE
non-gonfroling interests - - - - - - - - - Ll Ll
Finaland specal dvidends for ~ EEREZANE
yearended 3 Nech 202 SAMBILEEY
tee XEREARE - - - - - - - (s S
A3 December 02and RENENBR
1 January 2023 ABE1B1A 15,004 305,708 i 8,959 - 3460° 30883 (foggs)  (rsudy 97,280 621,831 6411 654,24
Lssfor e e FEEER - - - - - - - . I )
Other comprehensive ss for e ZEEEE2EER !
Jear
Changesin i value of equiy SR ABARERESH A
ivesnents desipaled B2 EKEZRE
afiaetoughoter  REZAREEES
comprehensive income - - - - - - (528) - - (525) - (525)
Betarge dfiences .~ REHBRRAEEL
tansation offrancel ERER
satnets . . - . . . T R
Totl comrehensive oss orthe. £EERAHEBE
e . - - . . . R R
Roguistion o rononoling— MEBSERIER
st 0 ) (i) - - - - - - . . N
Release ofresenes EHGE - - - - - - (3.382) - - 330 - 5 -
Finldidendsforhe ive monts EEREZINE
ended 31 December 2022 NEALEABAZ
[ *8R3 - - - - - - - - B G -G
WO Demed  ROBEUAME A A L
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * HEHEROSEASUBIRRARANGE R

HK$377,067,000 (2022: HK$412,827,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

#5377,067,00058 7T (20224 : 412,827,00037T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 &L E 2023 12531 H IF

Annual Report 2023

Year Nine months
ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE2023F HZE2022F
12A31H 128318
ILEE EhEA
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
[iF FT#x FTHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ Z&;EBFFBRENE
Loss before tax PRI ATES 1R (25,694) (47,890)
Adjustments for: TR EEHZHE
Finance costs B M A 7 4,946 5,043
Interest income FIEWA 5 (3,032) (3,258)
Gain on disposal/write-off of property, HE MHEME -BEK
plant and equipment # 2z W 5 (141) (934)
Impairment of financial assets, net ETREEZRE FE 6 1,677 558
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AAEERBE (k)
P
Financial assets at fair value through BRAnBEFAES
profit or loss TREE 5 1,000 -
Structured deposits EREEm 5 (T11) (523)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRREINE 6 27,642 19,035
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE 6 6,401 4,492
Amortisation of other intangible assets HeBrEERH 6 2,364 14,160
(Reversal of)/write-down of inventories to net (BE)  WREFEEEIER
realisable value FE 6 (1,551) 5,786
Recognition of government grants HESR B AT HE B (111) (86)
12,790 (3,617)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE (gm R (18,899) 14,425
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables ~ FEURBR FU K FEUR E 45
b, (4g0n) 33,305 (10,972)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and  FE{FFRIE « & R H© U
other receivables (38 ) 5,191 (21,071)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FEfTRRFRIZ N, (R L) 35,484 (24,728)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HEeBMHRES &R
accruals (R2b) /HEn (117,082) 123,774
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a fellow ~ FEWN—FEIR 2 M B A BB
subsidiary H(4gmm) 1,134 (1,439)
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FE 1 [ 2 Pt B8 /A B =R IE3E i 2,894 5408
Cash generated (used in)/from operations & (FrA) /FislRE (45,183) 81,780
PRC taxes refunded/(paid) R[]/ (B1T) RERIE 3n2 (309)
Interest paid BAFE (4,946) (5,043)
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities &2 '&5E&) (Fr ) /Fii8 2B £
BT (49,757) 76,428
continued / ...
B/ .
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 2 E 20235 12531 H IFFEZ

Year Nine months
ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE2023F HE2022F
12A31H 128318
ILEE EhEB
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 TER THET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHFRSRERE
Interest received BB 3,032 3,258
Capitalised portion of interest paid ENFMENEREEH S 7 (380) (572)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME BERRBEEEZ
plant and equipment FRi§RIE 283 1,223
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWME BERXE (48,898) (24,386)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEETVEE (17,003) -
Investments in financial assets at fair value REANEES ARG
through profit or loss EMEEZERE (10,000) -
Proceeds from structured deposits REEBEERZFREHRE 300,279 113,242
Investments in structured deposits REBUEERZRE (296,414) (102,373)
Net cash flows used in investing activities RERBFAZRERE T (69,101) (9,608)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEBFRFRERE
Dividends paid BRE (5,588) (17,625)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W IR 30 (25,228) -
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests FERERTE - 20
New bank loans HERITER 43,455 16,152
Repayment of bank loans BERTEM (64,407 (23,833)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE (5,626) (3,674)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBFTAZRERE T (57,394) (28,890)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEHER
CASH EQUIVALENTS () /s hnie R (176,252) 37,930
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of RE/HNzRERRE
year/period %@EEH 340,277 334,002
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SNEEERES 2 2 E (F58) (1,583) (31,655)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE/MERZAEREE
AT END OF YEAR/PERIOD “%EEE 162,442 340,277
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERBAEEERBERZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS ki
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RRERERIIRZRERIRE
statement of cash flows ZEEE 23 162,442 340,277
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) were involved in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and
healthcare products and investment in the development of
Chinese medicine industry.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
is Tianda Group Limited, a private limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AEREBER

AREZEFRAT (TRRF) &
RHEEHEFMMIZERRAE > H
RIPNEBHERZMBRAR (T8
A1) £ o KRB Z sk MRE RN
#2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

FER - ARBRAEWBAR (T4
EH)RFEBE -EYRFERERZ
M- - EERBE  UREXERTE
HEX-

EFRR FABNERERA
BIMRRBERABARKEBRBRA
8 (REBEMAIZEIMABRAT) o

ERMBARNZER
TRABETEMB AT ZE R

follows: T
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable to
Name business share capital the Company Principal activities
B&17
s, Lk TRF L
B SR R R HMES EZESM IEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef fi
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) People’s Republic RMB36,000,000 - 100 Research and

of China (PRC’) A E%36,000,0007T
Chinese Mainland

Limited (formerly known
as “Yunnan Meng Sheng

development, manufacture
and sale of pharmaceutical

Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.")** hEARENE and biotechnology products
XAEE () BRAR (TehEy) / BEREVRRER
(RiBEmBAEEEARAR)" R AR 2R FHE
LERHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

1.

7?2 EEEEEEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

NEREERER @)
ERMBATZEE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable to
Name business share capital the Company Principal activities
B&17
AL, LiEk/ TRTE L
B S B AR s B HAMES R i IEXH
Direct Indirect
Ef &
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) PRC/Chinese RMB113,000,000/ - 100 Research and
Limited* Mainland RMB126,000,000 development, manufacture
RAEZE (B8 BRAF HEL/PEAE  AR113,000,0007T,/ and sale of pharmaceutical
AR #126,000,0007T and biotechnology products
BEREMBRER
ZWME-FHE-
TERBEE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Australia AUD1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale and
Pty Limited BARE 1,000,000/ 75 distribution of healthcare
KABE (RANE) BRAT products
REERZITH
HERDH
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (China) PRC/Chinese HK$50,000,000 - 100 Research and
Limited* Mainland 50,000,000 7t development of
RABE (RE) BRAF R E AR pharmaceutical products,

provision of intra-group
consulting services and
marketing, sale and
distribution of healthcare
products
BEERZIER
R RIEEEANE
BHRBE AR AR
EmZTH-
HERDH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. REIREEREN @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ERMBARZER (@
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable to
Name business share capital the Company Principal activities
BET
B4 1A LiEk TATE
218 MRS E HfEx EmEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# i}

Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd.* PRC/Chinese RMB30,000,000/ - 100 Wholesale of Chinese
RRPBE (HE) FRAF" Mainland RMB50,000,000 herbal medicines, traditional
HE/PEAE  ARMES30,000,00057T,/ Chinese medicine decoction
A EE#50,000,0007T pieces and Chinese
medicines
REM - PEER
RAPZER# 3
Zhuhai Tianda Processed Chinese PRC/Chinese RMB12,580,000/ - 100 Production and sale of
Herbal Medicine Ltd.* Mainland RMB50,000,000 traditional Chinese medicine
KBRKHERRBRAT hEREAE  ARK12580,0007T, decoction pieces and trading
A E#50,000,0007T of agricultural by-products
FEHRREE
RIFE MUK
REERMNES
TDMall (Zhuhai) Limited* PRC/Chinese RMB14,201,000/ - 100 Provision of traditional
LBRKERERAR Mainland RMB100,000,000 Chinese medicine clinical
HEHEAE  ARE14201,0007T,/ services and sale of Chinese
A EE1100,000,0007% medicine products
R ER
RHEREER
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

NEREERER @)
ERMBATZEE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered  equity attributable to

Name business share capital the Company Principal activities

BT

AL, LiEhk, TRTE L
B S B AR s B HAMES R i TEEH
Direct Indirect
Ef M

TDMall (China) Limited* PRC/ Mainland RMB30,630,000/ - 100 Investment holding
RKE (FE) BRAF China RMB100,000,000 REER

RE/RERE AR 306300007,

A E#100,000,0007T
TDMall (Tsim Sha Tsui) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,900,000 - 920 Provision of traditional
KA (RDIE) BRAE 5E 1,900,000 7T Chinese medicine clinical
services and sale of
Chinese medicine products
REPBRE R
HETRER
TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of traditional
XA (B5#8) BRAT A 10,0008 7t Chinese medicine clinical
services and sale of
Chinese medicine products
R BRS
RHEREER

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law * REFEEERMZIEEERE

# Incorporated as a cooperative enterprise

A A limited liability company established under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the period or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

i AR A S EERE
A RIBPBEZRBINERAF

ERIHEERAH KR EE
BXAAETEXENENEIEREE
FEXTEMONEIIBTMEBAR - E
ERARECHBLRARNZENTIHE
LRIBBRITR

74 EEEEEEEPE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and structured deposits which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“‘HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Change of financial year end date

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 25 November
2022, the financial year end date of the Company has been
changed from 31 March to 31 December commencing from
the financial period ended 31 December 2022 in order to
align the financial year end date with that of the principal
operating subsidiaries of the Company, which are statutorily
required to fix their financial year end date at 31 December in
the PRC. Accordingly, the comparative figures presented for
the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related notes
cover the audited figures of the financial year from 1 April 2022 to
31 December 2022 and therefore are not comparable with those
shown for the current year.

2.1

BETHER
B

MBHRRDIRBEEAGHAOAE
Az EBMBREER (BE2HE
AMBREER - FBGHERKRE
1) REBREFRHINIKERERS
ZEMHRERAEERFNERE
HERARBEFABDZEHEE
BEABARBESAEREZERE
ZRERERGEEEEREANEE
B - ZFMBHRERUBTEY > M
BRZ AN > MERENNEER
;SRR S &

SEMBRFEELEHEA

RIE B HIA2022FE11825H M E
EGREE > BEHE202F128318
IERAEHARIRE » AR BB EE 4
HBEHBIBMNBAEEA12831H » I,
FHREELEEHAELAQATNTEL
EMBARMNMREELAEH -
ZEMBRABIREEREBERER
HEMBEEZFERBERN2B31H - H
It KBEZESEERECE2EKRE
R EZEADEFR GFEHEERE
KRNI 25 AL BB FE
HER2022F481H E20228F 128318
IEM B EFEENKEZET » EARE
EFEJNEF AT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

2.

2.1

76 EESEEEEEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.1

TR (@)
REEE (@)

AR

REMBREREERITREM
BAS 8 E2023F12B3BLEFEZ
MBRE  -MBARAETATEREN
MiRERzEE (BEEBLEER) -
EAEEH2ERERKEBNTH
O3 AEEARIEREMNUAKRESS
HRERGRZED AEAEHERT
RAENUTEREHRBEMESHZ
BN R EZFRIRE - BESE
1 o

R—RERTI9EESHRER
TR IEGIEZHRE - WA AT EEN
BEREALVNREBEGRZSHREN
BN EN > AASEERTEE
REEAHREHRZENKEER
—IHERAEERIER 81

a) HEREHRHECKRERH
AZEHNZH;

b) HeEaZHFRELEZHE
5 K

) FTEBZEREEREBEER
B

B ABMMBRERIREALRD
IR RS AR R — R EER
RERMA - MWBLARDZEEBEERER
D EHEEAEFRAEAR  EEZ
TRIEFIERIESLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

2.

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1

R ER (@)
EREE @)

FEEE®
BakEEEZE KRGS Z ZHMEP
DEBNAEBRFATRERIEER
o BNEIE SR | IE R T 45 iR
HIRELM - TEAERAARMZE
ERBE D WA BZURE
TEBERBEATZERZEMZRE
/}ILEiI]Es i =) EEE E%?&%(ﬁﬁﬁ °

HEERBELERLEXHWEAE
BT BERFTI M = TR GIEE P —IR
NEENREE > AEBGEHTML
HEBDAZREHR o MK R
AENEA D S E I R KT
o BRI S AR e

HAEEBAEH-—FHRBATZ
PERIME > R IEESIEREE (@%
HE) AR -EAFERERER
RiRENfER o A %%J\Fﬁﬁﬁ‘-’a’f?cﬁ?ﬁﬁ
ZAREE; MEmAERARERIESE
ZEFNEL - AANEE2E Y S
MRz AN E FE (G R0 AR A< &
EEERHERHEENERAREZ
HRBZEEHDEEREHFRE D
(gn@EA) o
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETERE @

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 EitHRKRMEBEESE

The Group has adopted the following new and revised REERAFEZESMBRE
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's consolidated BRIERA T ] REIETE BT
financial statements. HRELER] o
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts EBMBRE REE#

AR F75R
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies EBgsH#A BT E A B
and HKFRS Practice BIHRE B
Statement 2 A5k S 2R
BREERAE2R
pd cH|
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates EAB TR B G A B E
LA CH
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and EABAG TR B—XGELH
Liabilities arising from a Single B128R 2 185] BERAE
Transaction Vizlp %]
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar EBgsH#EL EI R FA R e —
Two Model Rules F128R 2 185] S _AAE A

78 ESEEEEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.2

R ER (@)

LENe

RRIRBEEE @)

WM RAEIES T BB B SR

BIEE R

(@)

FEVTRWMT
BER G ERBIRZIETT

REBBREHEAS
KWERER MIEFEXTES
STEUER o i & 5F R B #
HFNERMBRERNE
EEH—HEER IS
BERETE-—RARY
BRRZTEFEAEMZ
FMBRRELBRE >
ARSI BERENEE
EXR-FEUBHRSEL
ERBARZR BT F
HEAH G ) AT S & 5t
HERKERAERMEMH
SRMIEEHMEIES o &
EEEN M B wKMFE24
REERGFBREN -
ZEETHEAERMBR
RPEMIEBNFE - B
wu\jZEE§ujt?ﬂ\:'ﬁE1—J$\;% °

EBGFERFRZME
ET/%/EED"‘TED‘I-K-“@J/\E
STREREFHNESD - G5t
HEADREAMBRERA
R BEFHEEMMRNE
Bo-ZFEITEBER
ERFERZRBARE
EH EFH G5t % - B
MAEBBN T # KB RHA
ZEETET FLZF
BIIHAEENMBRE
WS E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

2. ACCOUNTI

2.2 CHANGES

(continued)

NG POLICIES (continued)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
are described below: (continued)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences for
transactions related to leases. The Group has applied
the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022. Upon initial application
of these amendments, the Group recognised (i)
a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary
differences associated with lease liabilities (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii)
a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with right-of-use assets as at
1 January 2022, with cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the balances of retained profits and
non-controlling interests at that date. The adoption of
amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2. GETERE @

2.2

SRR RIREEE @

WM RAEIES T BB B SR

BEE R

(c)

TEYITIMT ¢ ()

BRGHERIB 125 2R
E-XRZEENEERE
R A8 BR IR AE 7R T 48 R ) 48
RERGERNE125RZ
BISMBERBEE - AR
BERARESIBESFER
750 Be BY IR B 2 BR AU 32
7 (MBERRRERE o
FHiIt > BEREEAMBERRS
SIS R ERRMES —IR
RERBEE (AREA R
SR ERBEF) ”—HIE
ERIEEILE -

BREAZEEBITIZE
SEBEERT YIBERE
SMNBR M RFESRIAE R
XS EREENIELER
HEEREIEREBEGE -
20221818 » AEEE
M EHEE TR E5EER
CHEN-ENIEEEICHI
ZH > AEBERIA)AE
BEMEEFRE TN TR
EEMNIELERIBE E (Fite
2E BHERREFR) ;
K (i)ER#EEERRBNFRE
FERREFNIELERIES
& (F2022€1818) » MR
ZHHE Bt 2R A
REBEN R IFERE RS
BRZAAE - RMEBG
ERIE125R 2 BT HAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
are described below: (continued)

(€)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’ exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation
is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in
effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments
did not have any impact to the Group.

2. TETEER ®

22 BHHERKRIRBEEE @

WM RAEIES T BB B SR

BIEE R

(€)

FEYTIMT ¢ ()

ERGSENF12RZ(E
SEEEREE -
HRFEERSIAT HE AL
BEFELRBEMEMEY
XEZRAEAMEEN
HE SIE 7R TR i 58 Fk K BB B 58
HEEREGIINER & F
EEITRSIATHRERER
RRHKRERE  BBIMB
BENEREETHER
FrEERE IR A
% BEREEZIEE
R HA 18 B 4 BE A ST A
FRiSM AR BN HRAR 18 »
URRIECEMBHE
B LEEEMERKRERBR
M BESZFE ZRSRER
NENRASEMGNE
e AEEBIEMIEERA
TZEET BAREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if

applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)"4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)" 4

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding

wording with no change in conclusion

FEHECER (@
EBEAGENRERZEBMER
HHEA

FEFRL RN ZFMBRRPHE
LT BB E R RERZEETE
BMBREER - AEEAERZF
RIES] BB B S R ENEEA
ZEER (MERA) °

ERMBRIENF0R KEZRAHELTY
REEGHENFNS SELEAHEELE

pAH] FRE
ERMBREENF0R ERCDHAHERE
pAH]
ERERE A REAEARYRRY
pAH] HRGRE (TNNFE
5
ERGHENF IR WHZEHH TG R
pA ] (T20228 5T 1) -4
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TR
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.3
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2.3

84 EEEEEEEE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including what
is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer
must exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments,
and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of
a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with earlier application permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously
the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.3
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users
of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments
is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs
regarding comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable users
of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When
applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain bills receivable, structured
deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEE®@®
24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 BEXRGFBER @
Related parties REAL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETIER > —ABRAREKE
EERE
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that () ZAA—BALTHZAL
person’s family and that person 2 M&AL
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HEAEBRERIZHI#
oY H EEHIE ;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BHEAEBREBEAY
255
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel (i) AEEBIHEZAT]
of the Group or of a parent of the Group; ZEEBEEAES;
or 17
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) ZALTARFTE TIEMK
conditions applies: HzERE
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the ) ZEBERAXERER
same group; —&EBENKE AT ;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —EBfRASZ—BR (X
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow S—BRZE8RF
subsidiary of the other entity); NI AEEN b
RE) ZHEATHE
=§1-F N
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (i) ZERAKXEEAMR
the same third party; —B=HZEERE;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —BRBA—RE=H
and the other entity is an associate of the third BERZEERE M
entity; F—BRAZE=
BRZBMEAT;
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for (v) ZERBALEEIH
the benefit of employees of either the Group or REBBRAENER
an entity related to the Group; # 8 B 127 sk 00 at

BERENEE

90 ESEEEEEE



Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

3% to 10%

10% to 33.3% or over the lease
terms, whichever rate is higher

5% to 10%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year/period end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year/period end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Licences and permits

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 13 years.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities and are
separately disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms of
47 to 50 years

Over the lease terms of
3 to 5 years

Leasehold land

Clinics, offices and warehouses

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office, clinics and staff
quarters (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (‘EIR”) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This
category includes bills receivable, derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 180 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based
on reasonable and supportable information, including the Group’s
credit risk control practices and the historical recovery rate of
financial assets over 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process. Amortised cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost method
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three
months that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary difference; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and
Chinese medicine products
Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology,
healthcare and Chinese medicine products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the pharmaceuticals,
biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese medicine products.

2.4

R ER (@)
BARGETEER @)

FRiSH (&)
EEXERBGENTZHENR
BNEATR IR E E AR AR IR & [EIHH »
BIEERIEEERRERIARRRER
—MRBERBHRA—ERREEINE
RKHARE TR A R BEIELERTE& EE
EEREGHEIFER  BEFHRE
HEHNRAR AR R REESNFRE
REERGEHEERZABRBEER
W Z FriSIRAERE » RIEEIRIAE E A
RIERBR AR THE -

R #6Bh

BFF 48 Bh i ] & B2 B 7E i W B It
SETHFAWZ —UIMEHRZRARE
B - M RRZIBEE AR 8
SRERARNBEETR S IHFHE
BIR A Z B R FE SR B UL A o

W A BB

EEEHHKA
ERXRGHBARKRRAERTE

HERERURMZEERIRGEZ

RESEBREERF  BIEFE

AU A o

(a) FHEEBZE LYK - RIERF
BHEEm
REHERE - EYRE -~ RiE
RPBEEMZWATEEZGESE
BEZRE (—MRARNVZFRE &
MR ~ RERTBEERF) M -

107



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

24

108 I ESEEEEEPE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Provision of Chinese medical services

Revenue from the provision of Chinese medical services
is recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.

(c)  Provision of contract development and manufacturing
organization (“CDMQ’) services
Revenue from the provision of CDMO services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
from services provided by the Group.

Customer membership program

The Group operates a customer membership program
which entitles customers to use the credit on future consultation
of Chinese medical services and purchases of Chinese
medicines. No expiry dates are attached to the extra credits.
The obligation to provide the right to the customer is therefore a
separate performance obligation.

The transaction price is allocated between the provision
of Chinese medical services and extra credits on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone selling price of
each extra credit is estimated based on the right to be given when
the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.

A contract liability is recognised for the unexercised rights
relating to the membership program at the time of the initial
sales transaction. Revenue from the membership program is
recognised when the extra credits are redeemed by the customer.
Revenue for extra credits that are not expected to be redeemed is
recognised in the proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by
the customers.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

24 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or
services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees' basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

2.4
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency, Renminbi
(“RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, for the convenience of users of the financial
statements, the results and financial position of the Group are
expressed in HKS$. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the HK$. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these entities
which arise throughout the year/period are translated into HK$ at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year/period.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2023 was
HK$95,230,000 (2022: HK$95,948,000). Further details are set
out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit using key assumptions such as
forecasted growth rates and budgeted gross margins and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
other than goodwill are set out in notes 13, 14 and 16 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables

The measurement of expected credit losses under
HKFRS 9 on trade and other receivables requires judgements,
in particular, for the estimations of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining impairment losses, and
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk for other
receivables. These estimates are affected by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different allowance amounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other
receivables (continued)

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. The
significant estimates involved in the determination of the inputs
applied in the ECL models include: the Group’s internal credit
grading, which assigns probabilities of default to the individual
grades; the segmentation of trade receivables based on risk
characteristics of the customers; development of ECL models,
including the various formulas and the choice of inputs over
determination of loss given default of the credit exposures;
determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs, and the effect on probabilities of default,
exposures at default and losses given default; and selection of
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability
weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.
It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary. Further details of the ECL provision for trade and
other receivables are set out in notes 20 and 21 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance, focuses on the types of goods or services
delivered, being the Chinese medicine business, pharmaceuticals
and medical technologies business and medical and healthcare
services. The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. In addition, the
CODM monitors the Group's assets and liabilities as a whole and,
accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are presented.
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4.

1 December 2023 20235125 31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit/loss before tax except that the allocation of central
administration costs, certain other income, gains and losses are

excluded from such measurement.

KEDEER @)
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DEC °

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE223F12831HLLEFE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hRE  EYTRE BEHN
E EE S RIERT a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHET FTHET FTHET
Segment revenue: SEBWIA -
Sales to external customers RSB E P IHE 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Intersegment sales DEEHE 3,431 511 - 3,942
51,798 471,196 13,037 536,031
Reconciliation: HER:
Elimination of intersegment sales KD EEHEE (3,942)
Revenue WA 532,089
Segment results DEEE (11,296) 16,309 (15,310) (10,297)
Reconciliation: Ear
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ ELE WA ~ &
KREEPE 570
Corporate and other unallocated tERHEE
expenses FREHX (15,967)
Loss before tax PRIRAIRS 1 (25,694)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, REPEIEE @)

Year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) HE2023F128318ILLEE (8)

Pharmaceuticals

Chinese and medical Medical and

medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total

hRE BMnRE BEM
£33 EES REEAR Kk Wit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T#ET TER TER TER

Other segment information: HenBEH !

Interest income HEBA 59 1,359 17 1,597 3,032
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 14 28,381 2,811 4,001 36,407
Finance costs MERK - 4374 25 37 4,946
Capital expenditure® BRRY 188 64,674 1,419 = 66,261

*

equipment and intangible assets.

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and

* BEARXBENE - BERRHEUR
BREEZRE -

Nine months ended 31 December 2022 #=2022F12831H L AEA
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Total
hERE  BEYNMER BB
7% EEEL RIEIRTS #ast
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
FET TET FTET FTET
Segment revenue: DEPUIA :
Sales to external customers SRR R E 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
Intersegment sales 7 ERFE & 1,591 2,265 - 3,856
55,669 346,982 11,226 413,877
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment sales RS HREIHE (3,856)
Revenue WA 410,021
Segment results SEREER (9,771) (22,024) (7,599) (39,394)
Reconciliation: B
Other income, gains and losses, net ~ EEBA~
Wz K 548 5 ER 3,451
Corporate and other unallocated TtEREE
expenses RAEHHZ (11,947)
Loss before tax PRI ATAS 18 (47,890)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, REPEIEE @)

Nine months ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

HE202F12831HLEAEAR (B)

Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
business business services Unallocated Total
hEE  BEYNEE BB
% BRER RIBRE XN Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET TET THET
Other segment information: ~ EEAEH :
Interest income FIEBA 42 370 9 2,837 3,258
Depreciation and amortisation 7 2 Re i 84 621 32,302 1,667 3,097 37,687
Finance costs B - 4,556 112 375 5,043
Capital expenditure® EENGE 459 24,460 5,679 - 30,598

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.

s E

Geographical information

* BXRHAXEENE  BERREUR
EREEEZRE -

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) FKEIFEEZHKA
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HF2023F B 20226
12H31H 12H31H
IEEFFE IEHEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Chinese Mainland EalETb N7 524,126 403,580
Hong Kong &8 6,473 5,781
Australia JBAFZE 1,490 660
532,089 410,021

The revenue information of operations above is based on
the locations of the customers.

AEE-

UEEEZWAERUT AT

RAAREARAE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

KEDEER @)

i EE @
b) FHRBEE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20235 20225

12H31H 12H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Chinese Mainland A E (A 3t 558,520 519,259
Hong Kong and Macau BB REM 5,333 10,281
Australia JBARF TR 14 14
563,867 529,554

The non-current assets information of operations above
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no revenue
from any single customer accounted for 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2022, revenue
of HK$43,133,000 was derived from sales by the Chinese
medicine business segment and pharmaceutical and medical
technologies business segment to a single customer, including
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common
control with that customer.

UEEEZFRHEEEHUE
EFEMAEE > BAEUEEERAR
AREBEEFAECEERTZZRER
BERBRARBEFABGZEMEE °

ERETEERZEH

HZE2023F12831BILLFEE >
ERBTME—FANBALEER
48U A B910%88 A L o

] E2022F 128318 L NA@ER »
#943,133,000B TR AR B h BB a2
BB R EY N E BRI ER DI
HE-XRNHE  SFEHEMEZ
ERSHEZEHN—HSENE o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5 WA~ HEWA ~ K REEFEE
An analysis of revenue is as follows: BRABAZAHWT :
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235F B 20226
12831 12H31H
IEFE @A
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T TET
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHKA
Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and THEEBEEE
healthcare products EMPR KRR ER 465,669 343,397
Sale of Chinese medicine products HEPBEEM 55,931 61,146
Provision of Chinese medical services REPERE 5,473 4,158
Provision of CDMO services 1R HCDMOBR 75 5,016 1,320
532,089 410,021

120 I ESEEEEERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5.

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

Annual Report 2023

WA~ HEWA ~ Rm M E51RFER

(%)
EREHWA

() HERHEZBARTH

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F 128318 1L FE
Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
#Zyn BEM
B FREXE BREURES {REEARHS L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TER
Types of goods or services Ema R ER
Sale of products HESER 48,367 465,669 7,564 521,600
Chinese medical services B AR - - 5473 5473
CDMO services COMOAR - 5,016 - 5,016
Total revenue from contracts with ERENBABE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Geographical markets 45 7 4
Chinese Mainland elEipN 48,367 470,009 5,750 524,126
Hong Kong &8 - 5 6,420 6473
Australia BAF R - 623 867 1,490
Total revenue from contracts with ERENMALRE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
Timing of revenue recognition U ATERD 2 B Rt
Goods transferred at a point in time RERMEB 2GR 48,367 465,669 7,564 521,600
Services rendered over time R —ER R R 2 AR 7 - 5,016 5473 10,489
Total revenue from contracts with EREHBARE
customers 48,367 470,685 13,037 532,089
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 5.

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the nine months ended 31 December 2022

WA~ HEWA ~ Wi Kk

(%)

EREHWA @

(i) BERHZIHAEZH B

pE

HE2022F12A31HIENER

Pharmaceuticals
Chinese and medical Medical and
medicine technologies healthcare
Segments business business services Total
= BB
Bixi hEELE BEURER RERE izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TiEr TR
Types of goods or services EmaRHER
Sale of products HEER 54,078 343,397 7,068 404,543
Chinese medical services hE R - - 4,158 4,158
CDMO services CDMORR % - 1320 - 1320
Total revenue from contracts with ERANMALE
customers 54,078 344,117 11,226 410,021
Geographical markets HhimiE
Chinese Mainland R AR 54,078 344,285 5217 403,580
Hong Kong 55 - 274 5,507 5,781
Australia BAHE - 158 502 660
Total revenue from contracts with ERRAMALE
customers 54,078 344,717 11,226 410,021
Timing of revenue recognition WA B Z By i
Goods transferred at a point in time REREEEZER 54,078 343,397 7,068 404,543
Services rendered over time R—EERRE 2 RE - 1,320 4,158 5,478
Total revenue from contracts with
customers ERANMA ST 54,078 344,717 11,026 410,021
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included in
the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

WA~ HEWA ~ W k8P
()

EEGHBA @

(i) #ABR/EZKAEZH @)
TRETHARSHBRIME

ARSI ZEHNEEMERIEZ

WAEEE :

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
8 E20235F #2022
12831H 12831H
IEFE LEAEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Revenue recognised that was included ~ Bst AZREHI Z
in contract liabilities at the beginning EHEEZEEDBUA
of the reporting period:
Sale of products and medical services ~ $HE & M &I B EIRT 78,241 13,898

(ii)  Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and

Chinese medicine products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, healthcare and Chinese
medicine products and payment is generally due within 60 to 180
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required.

Provision of Chinese medical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
customer acceptance.

(i) BAEIEME
ERAEERNBEEZER B
mE:

HEBE - LYRIE - RERT

Bi#ER

BHEERTHERE - EYR
B -RREEPBEERNER > BN
— MR T B AR E 5160E 180K A F
H > HHEA—MRATEMLRIE

tE B B IR 7S
RABERNIR MARTS R FERS i
Bl RRIE—MRINE R AR AT
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)  Performance obligations (continued)

Provision of CDMO services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30
days from the date of billing.

An analysis of other income, gains and losses, net, is as
follows:

WA~ HEWA ~ I m RERFER
(%)

EEAHBA ®
(i) BAIEIE (&)
12 RCOMORR 75

BHOEER R UIREREREE
R > RIE— AR R AR E B HIE308
AT o

ERHETWA ~ W RERFE
ZORMTE

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#F2023F B 20226
12831 128318
IEFE IEHAER
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#Ex FHET
Other income HEIKWA
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 3,032 3,258
Government subsidies* BT & BY 2,641 4,084
Value-added tax refund REIEER 1,973 -
Forfeiture of trade deposits REBZEE - 669
Others HE 299 448
7,945 8,459
Gains and losses, net Wz B B5 15 R 88
Fair value gains/(losses), net: AnEEKE (B518) F5E -
Structured deposits EBMEER 14K 523
Financial assets at fair value through AR EESIAEBREZ
profit or loss TREE (1,000) -
Foreign exchange differences, net SMEEERE > HEE 478 (155)
Gain on disposal/write-off of property, HE MEYE - BRER
plant and equipment ®EZ W= 141 934
330 1,302
8,275 9,761

*

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to * It # A R L S /8B 2 M R IR AR
these grants. B BEEIE -
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6.

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

BRI ARS8
AEBZBRRABRENR

(crediting): (5t A) :
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
& E20235F B E20226F
12H31H 128318
ILFE LEAEA
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
(g FET FET
Cost of inventories sold BEEEZME 278,108 215,594
Depreciation of property, plant and ME -BEKRREIRE
equipment 13 27,642 19,035
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ??ﬁ% 14(a) 6,401 4,492
Amortisation of other intangible assets CETEE#E 16 2,364 14,160
(Reversal of)/write-down of inventories (ﬁé‘ ), MEEEE
to net realisable value** B EIR R E (1,551) 5,786
Research and development costs B 2% Y A 13,105 27,112
Lease payments not included in the TAREEETHE&ESE
measurement of lease liabilities 2B 14(c) 1,954 1,556
Auditor's remuneration Z B Em N = 1,454 1,575
Employee benefit expenses (including BEREFIFEX (BIFEEK
directors' and chief executive’s FETHASME
remuneration (note 8)): (FF5E8)) -
Wages and salaries TEREM 75,646 58,362
Pension scheme contributions* RAESEE SR 10,742 6,200
86,388 64,562
Impairment of financial assets, net: THMEEREFLE
Impairment of trade and bills FE WAt B 0 e FE W R 4%
receivables, net BE BEE 20 785 468
Impairment of financial assets ST ATEMRIA ~
included in prepayments, deposits BERETCRERKER
and other receivables, net ETHEERE @%E 21 892 920
1,677 558

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and nine months ended
31 December 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions under
the retirement benefits scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels of
contributions. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no
material forfeited contributions available to reduce the contributions in
the future.

This item is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

* REBE2008F1283ALEERSE
2022F12831BIEAER » AEE I E
IRBRAREH BB UM R LUAE
RRIRAE HIRKTE o 720234 K20224F
128310 » AER I EEARURHEIRE
HEHBNBERZA -

* ZBABFARGIRERI THERE)
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERZS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAZATUWT :
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE20235F 20224
12831 128318
ILEE EREA
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#ET FHBT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 4,754 5,128
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEZME 572 487
Total interest expense FEREZEEE 5,326 5,615
Less: Interest capitalised B BEREZAE (380) (572)
4,946 5,043
8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FEITHAEKREZEMWE

Chief executive’s and directors' remuneration for the year/
period, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

RIE EHHRA - FBQEEEE
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () R(MEU AT (I
BESMNEER) REI B2 IREARF
E/HEZEETHAEBRESNE

Directors) Regulation, is as follows: mT:
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235F B ZE20224F
12831H 12H31H
L E LER@EA
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FAET
Fees Fiok 421 315
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8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

(continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

Annual Report 2023

FETHAEBREEME ®

(a) BWIUFHTEE

F/HRAENTFRIULIFAITES

during the year/period were as follows: ZHEWMT

Nine months

Year ended ended

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

#HE20235 #HE2022F

12H31H 128318

IEFFE LEAEA

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Mr. Lam Yat Fai N =h P 72 54

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE 72 54
Dr. Xian Yanfang HEASEL

(appointed on 27 June 2023) (7220236 H27TH Z 1) 37 -
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa W ESLE

(resigned on 1 July 2023) (7220237 H1 B BHE) 36 54

217 162

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (nine months

ended 31 December 2022: Nil).

FERMEEGFEILIERNTES
ZHEMS (8F2022%128318 1A

@A : & o
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8. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. FETHAEREEMNS @

(continued)
(b) The chief executive, an executive director and non- (b) FEITHAS - JITEFERIEH
executive directors TES
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
i F2023F B = 20226
12831H 12831H
ILEFE LEhER
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Chief executive: FETHAR:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FXERE 60 45
Executive director: WITESE :
Mr. Lui Man Sang aXErRE 72 54
Non-executive directors: JEMITES :
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPERE - -
Mr. Zhong Tao BEkE
(appointed on 29 August 2023) (72202358 5290 & 1) 25 -
Mr. Shen Bo TR A&
(resigned on 29 August 2023) (7220238 H29H &BH1E) 47 54
72 54
Total directors' remuneration EEMEREE 204 153
There was no arrangement under which a director or the F/HATREEHEZITEHRA
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration BREXARBREEAME ZZHE -

during the year/period.
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not
include any director (nine months ended 31 December 2022:
five), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the five (nine months
ended 31 December 2022: five) highest paid employees who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

hBmEHMNES

Annual Report 2023

FREZERHFNEEFRERE
FAESE (B E20224128318 LA
B AR  HMWEH5MN LXK
8o EARAZ (B F2022%F12831H 1k
NER AR HIFEATNEETREE
TBAEZRSHFNEEZMEEE

mE:

Nine months

Year ended ended

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

#HE2023F B 20226

128318 128318

LR IEAER

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#Ex FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N~ SRR EBYA & 4,728 4,327
Pension scheme contributions BRAREEIMER 90 68
4,818 4,395

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest

MBI A AR ML IFESR K

paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following WEFETHABZESHMNESEZ
bands is as follows: AT -

Nine months

Year ended ended

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

#HF2023F B E20226F

12H31H 12H31H

IEFRE LEA@EA

Nil to HK$1,000,000 # 251,000,00078 75 3 4

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T &1,500,0007 75 1 -

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 £2,000,0007 75 1 1

5 5
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10.  INCOME TAX 10. FR1SM

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax, Macau HRAERTFRNILERESE
complementary tax and Australia income tax have been made as B RRAFEEEEMERR G
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong F o W EmAEH S EFER ~ EFIFR
Kong, Macau and Australia during the year (nine months ended BHTREBRFEFESRES (B
31 December 2022: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in Chinese E2002FE12BMBLEAEAR : #) o k&
Mainland has been calculated at the applicable Chinese Mainland TEEMBASIRKEE (KEB) BIR
corporate income tax (“CIT’) rate of 25% (nine months ended RE (TRAREEZE (BkB) 1) RRAREE
31 December 2022: 25%), except for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zm) BRAR (TFRAKZEZE (/) 1)
(Zhuhai) Ltd. (“Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)”) and Tianda 4h > A B KRR EF HW Z
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) Ltd (“Tianda Pharmaceuticals WHIE > hRRERAPEKEREMS
(Yunnan)’), subsidiaries of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant M (T ZEFRSIR1) M ZE25% (& £2022
laws and regulations in the PRC, Tianda Pharmaceuticals F12ANBALENEA :25%) stE 1R
(Zhuhai) is qualified as an advanced technology enterprise BHREZERERRER » RAEXE
and has obtained approvals from the relevant tax authorities (B et EER B
for a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of 3 years up to SHEARS N EIRBEERZE15%
December 2025. Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) is established B> AB=F > HEE2025F128 %
in the Kunming Economic and Technological Development Zone. Ik o RAZEZE (Z/) RN EBRAHL
Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Tianda ERMAZEE - RIBPREERERE
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) is engaged in the Western China FER  RREZE (B ®REHPEH
Development Strategy and is entitled to a preferential tax rate P AR EE > WHERTIREE
of 15% during the year (nine months ended 31 December 2022: 2 %15% (B £2022F128318 LE L@

15%). B 15%) B o
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235 #HE:2022F
12H31H 128318
IEEFFE LENER
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Current — Chinese Mainland BDER — R K B

Charge for the year/period KEE HAEZH 394 541
Overprovision in prior years UEFEBRERE (738) (838)
Deferred tax (note 27) IRIEFIE (MI5E27) (345) (3,350)
Total tax credit for the year/period KEE HIBMIBIR R 4E%E (689) (3,647)
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

10.  INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FriSiR @

A reconciliation of the tax amount applicable to loss before UTARRAIBGEZNETSE
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the majority (RABE XD E AT EFBEAESE
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax amount at the effective HEZEIEMRERHE) BRAYRE
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the SHEZMNEBSEZHER  UWRERR
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: R EVEERE) BERMEZHIR !

Year ended Nine months ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
HE02E HZE20226
12A3MBLLEE 128318 LEAER
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
Ti#rx FHET
Loss before tax PRI ATRS IR (25,694) (47,890)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERE
HEZRE (6,424) 25.0 (11.972) 25.0
Higher/(lower) tax rate(s) enacted 1t 75 1% A 78 45
by local authority ZBE/ (E) m= (2,213) 8.6 284 (0.6)
Income not subject to tax BERRZ WA (489) 1.9 (623) 1.3
Expenses not deductible for tax Aalffz 421 (1.6) - -
Tax losses utilised from previous BEHREEEZ
periods MIaksE (72) 0.3 (195) 04
Tax losses not recognised KR 2RIBEEE 8,826 (34.4) 9,697 (20.2)
Adjustments in respect of current FLFHAFR IE R RO HA
tax of previous period {EH A% (738) 2.9 (838) 1.7
Tax credit at the Group'’s BAEEZERRE
effective rate SHEZREIES (689) 2.7 (3,647 76
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11.  DIVIDENDS 1. KRR

Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#F20235F #HE20228F
12H31H 128318
IEFFE IENEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET

Final — HK0.26 cent (nine months ended FEARR S B AR0.2678 L (B =

31 December 2022: HK0.26 cent) 2022F12831HIENER
per share 0.267811L) 5,590 5,590
A final dividend of HK0.26 cent per share amounting to EFEEEMBE2023F12831H
HK$5,590,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 IEFEIRGT KRR EERK0.2681L > &
have been proposed by the directors and are subject to approval $£5,590,00078 75 » AFR RN EER

by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. RBFRGLHER > AUIEFE -
RAEEFRAF
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12.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 12 PNEEEEGRIEAEARBLER

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 18
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is EREAGESERIRTRKRE
based on the loss for the year/period attributable to owners of the FELFE HHREERE HHRE R
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of TE B N T +9802,150,041,884 % 51
2,150,041,884 in issue during the year/period. Ho
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#E20235F #HE20225F
12H31H 128318
IEFFE LEhEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Loss attributable to owners of the parent, BRstEERELREBEZ
used in basic loss per share calculation FATKRREMLEE (24,155) (40,977)

Number of shares

& E
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235F B 20226
12H31H 12H31H

I13-3:5 IEAER

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ARt EEREKEIEZ
in issue during the year/period for the F/HHABRITEBER
purposes of basic loss per share calculation N8

2,150,041,884 2,150,041,884

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in

NEEN B F2023F12831H LE

issue during the year ended 31 December 2023 and nine months FEREZE2022F128318 LA E B
ended 31 December 2022. TRABTREEZEHITEER -
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% - BEKRRE

Furniture,
Leasghold ~ Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g frf
BF MERE HERHE RERZH RE  ERIR EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TR TiEn TiEn Ti#n TR Tin
A1 Al 2002, ROERIR

net of accumulated depreciaton NBEHTE 236,162 704 112944 7730 1,267 23,685 36249
Addtions HE 3575 - 1,065 1,64 - 18,673 24,958
Depreciaton provided during the period ~ ER AT EE Rt (6,526) (220 (10,472) (2085) (132) - (19,035)
Disposalsfwite-off HE /s - - Q1) (31 () - (289)
Transfer &7 - - 10,958 - - (10,958) -
Exchenge reaignment EQEH 192 - (s 679 ) Ry (e

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023, FN2E2BH AR

net of accumulated dpreciation NBEIR1A

NBEsNE 211,289 484 104,107 6,584 998 28,980 352,442
Addtions HE - " 13,847 1538 364 32,828 49218
Depreciafion provided during the year ~ ERITERH (10501) (273) (14,959) (1,803) (104) - (27642)
Disposalsfrite-off HE /s - - (50) (46) (19) o) (14)
Transfer & 2 - 19,000 1.209 - (21,151) -
Exchange realignment ERAE (1489) (3) (802) (48) ) (242) (2590)
At 31 December 2023 ROBERANA 200,242 97 121,143 1434 1,222 40,388 371,346
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13. ME - - BERERE @
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g xR

B WEKE BERHE KERRR A ERIR 4
HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000
Fin Fén Fin Fin Fin Fin TEn

At 31 December 2022; RN2ENEYA
Cost [ 29422 4016 147 576 2,921 6,699 28,980 441620
Accumueed deprciaton BitiE 819 p5Y) 49 (8% GI) - Em)
Net carrying amount FEFE 211,289 484 104107 6,584 998 28,980 352,442
At 31 December 2023: RUBFERANE
Cost T 28714 4113 118,857 26,775 6,826 40,388 486,213
Accumulted depreciaion BitiiE Y N Y0 N 111 S )
Net carrying amount REE(E 200,242 9" 121,143 1434 1,202 40,388 311,346
At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s R2023F12831H » ZE E IR
property, plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of H 73 {8 £223,195,00078 7T (20224 :
HK$223,195,000 (2022: HK$222,056,000) were pledged to secure 222,056,000 70) NE T - BE K
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 26). RECEFEARTAREEN—KIE

ITRERER (i5E26) -
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

14. LEASES 14. HHE
The Group as a lessee TEBEEAEBEA
The Group has lease contracts for leasehold land, clinics, AEEMHEEEMANEEL
offices and warehouses used in its operations. Lump sum M2 -WMAEREEINEHES
payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land from Mo REBEZELIMBEENEHR  ERN
the owners with lease periods of 47 to 50 years, and no ongoing MEFEGEHEE I MERAEE —X
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. MR HEATENF  HB LAY
Leases of clinics, offices and warehouses generally have lease BESZNEARE -2 MAER
terms between 2 and 5 years. BEMNHEIREE A2E5F o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHAESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets rERFERAEEEZREERE
and the movements during the year/period are as follows: SEHRNEEWT
Clinics,
Leasehold offices and
land warehouses Total
2R
HELH MAEREE waEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET
As at 1 April 2022 720224818 38,609 11,984 50,593
Additions "B - 5,640 5,640
Depreciation charge TERX (643) (3,849) (4,492)
Exchange realignment b 2 aR E (3,580) (95) (3,675)
As at 31 December 2022 and 2022128318 K
1 January 2023 2023FE1H1H 34,386 13,680 48,066
Depreciation charge ERX (829) (5,572) (6,401)
Exchange realignment BE 2 ER 2 (244) (29) (273)
As at 31 December 2023 142023128318 33,313 8,079 41,392

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s right-of-use
assets with a net carrying amount of HK$30,770,000 (2022:
HK$31,733,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 26).

2023128310 » ZEEER
% {8 230,770,000 7T (20224 :
31,733,000 7T) WETEREEER
B EARTAERN—RIBITHE
BIEMR (BIsE26) ©

IRl <Azs5REAR
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

14.  LEASES (continued) 14. #HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBREAFRBA @
(b) Lease liabilities (b)) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEaGEZEREERE HAE
during the year/period are as follows: BT :
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235 #HE2022F
12H31H 128318
IEFFE LEAEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023/ 1220231818
1 April 2022 2022FF4AB1HRVEREE 14,404 12,540
New leases RN - 5,640
Accretion of interest recognised F/HRERN
during the year/period FE23Em 572 487
Payments (NES (6,198) (4,161)
Exchange realignment P 2 A E (31) (102)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12B31BWNEREE 8,747 14,404
Analysed into: pak i
Current portion TRENERD 5,678 5,630
Non-current portion JEmEEBRD 3,069 8,774
8,747 14,404
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEaBRZ I TREBRE
36 to the financial statements. MIsE36HR 17 58 o
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

14. LEASES (continued)

14. THE @)

The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBREAERBA®
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) 18t ohiE SR Y B 76 i = T8 40
leases are as follows: T
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235 #2022
12H31H 12831H
IEEFE LENEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 572 487
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FRAEEENERS 6,401 4,492
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HATE BRI 1,954 1,556
Total amount recognised in profit or loss B PSR R IEAREE 8,927 6,535
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31(c) (d) FHENREREBEERTFERR
to the financial statements. M sE31(c)IK EE ©

138 B



Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

15.  GOODWILL 15. ®HE&
HK$’000
F#Ex

31 December 2023 2023%12831H
Cost at 1 January 2023, R2023F1B1H Z A& >

net of accumulated impairment MR REHRE 95,948
Exchange realignment bE R A% (718)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 22023 F 12831 H Z BREFE 95,230
At 31 December 2023: 420235128318

Cost A {E 99,594

Accumulated impairment RHetRE (4,364)

Net carrying amount REFEE 95,230
31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost at 1 April 2022, 2022481 B Z B AS (B

net of accumulated impairment NRRERE 106,214
Exchange realignment ER A (10,266)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 2022 12831H Z BREFE 95,948
At 31 December 2022: 2022128318 -

Cost %=} 100,344

Accumulated impairment REHRE (4,396)

Net carrying amount IRERE 95,948

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment

testing:

BERENR

BREFSHWBZHEHDE
ETHNREELEEMFERER :

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan)

. Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd. (“TCM (China)”)

. Chinese medicine products cash-generating unit for Zhuhai
Tianda Processed Chinese Herbal Medicine Ltd. (“Zhuhai
TPCHM")

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

RREZE (BEm) 2BEEMRE
EEEA

EAREFR (FE) BRAD
(FRAPEE (RE) ) 2 PEE
ESREELEQ

KBRAPERRBRARE (T
BRAPERR ) ZHBEER
REELEN

RREE (i) 2 BEEMRE
EEEM
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

15.

140 ESEEEEERE

GOODWILL (continued) 15. EE @)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BmERENE @

Full impairment of HK$1,275,000 and impairment of BRBRAKPEMA ~ RAHEE
HK$1,655,000 and HK$1,434,000 were made for the goodwill (PE) RRAZEE (E@) NIREEE
attributable to the CGUs for Zhuhai TPCHM, TCM (China) and BEGEERBTEEINEEEE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) in prior years, respectively. A {E1,275,0007%8 7T K iR {E 1,655,000/ 7T

B21,434,00078 7T ©

The recoverable amounts of the pharmaceutical BRERRATELBMTKES
products cash-generating units have been determined based %EEEE"@FHFE?%WF*E s Hix
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections on BREREEBINERERFEHZH
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior BHEBEZRERETER - HEEAFH
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows MEzBRERREELBEMURESRN
of the pharmaceutical products cash-generating units beyond the ERAZERXHBETENRAT
five-year period is the same as the long term average growth rate IR REAER o
of the pharmaceutical industry.

Tianda Tianda
Pharmaceuticals TCM Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) (China) (Zhuhai)
RAREEE RKAHPEGEE RKREXE
(E) (P E) (ki)
31 December 2023 20235128318
Discount rate AR IR = 21.83% 14.22% 14.30%
Terminal growth rate KABRE 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
31 December 2022 20228128318
Discount rate ARIRZ 18.10% 12.45% 14.28%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 3% 3% 3%

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the pharmaceutical product cash-generating units as at
31 December 2023 and 2022. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

R’ T B iR 51 B 20235 220224
RBNHBEZERREEEEMNGE
BEE- LIF%@?IJ”“IEJEFEBAEEE».L
EfERNETEERENRRNZREE
55
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is with reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the pharmaceutical industry and discount rates
are consistent with external information sources.

The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

15.

EESIC))

BERENS @
RAERER-BERITERANE
AIBRE o

BHEANE— AU T RS
REENEEASE REEEEE
—EFEBNERE o

REIRER —Fr A RGIR R A FRHAD
iz PR SR AR BE (L A RA BV 45 RE LR o

AREEBENBEERTISH
BRERENETEZHEREIBEER
R—E -

PEERBRSELEUZBEY
IREFEWNT

Tianda Tianda
Pharmaceuticals TCM  Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan) (China) (Zhuhai) Total
XREX ERPER XREZE
(E) (HE) (3%38) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TET TER TER
Carrying amount of goodwill K2023F12A318
as at 31 December 2023 ZEHEREE 4,426 1,388 89,416 95,230
Carrying amount of goodwill 120225128318
as at 31 December 2022 ZEEREE 4,459 1,398 90,091 95,948

The effects of the reasonably possible change in
key assumptions on the calculation of value in use of the
cash-generating units, which would cause the carrying amounts to
equal to the recoverable amounts, are disclosed below.

TXHBTERRNAETAER
{EHRSE s BAEREETEOY
@ EMPETEREELERBT
SR B AT E S 5 o
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 11 percentage points (31 December
2022: 3 percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

TCM (China)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 2 percentage points (31 December
2022: 13 percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, a decrease in
the forecasted growth rate by 2 percentage points (31 December
2022: 5 percentage points) would cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to equal to its recoverable amount, and any reasonably
possible change in other key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the CGU’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

15.

2 ()

R ERNE @
XAEZE (ZFH)

EARESERA > BAERET
FE11EE D2 (202246128318 : 3MEHR
DR BERREESLBEMUNIREE
ERETIREIEEE > A UK E & EE8FT
RIENEETERINTMASIETSE
SEHWAGENIREELEMNIRT
EREETTU[EEEE o

XA R (H)

EABEERA > FB:HERET
FE2ME B 7 BE (2022128318 S 13EH
DR BERIRESELBEMUNKREAE
HERETIKEIESE > MU EE
FrkiENEEFERINEMGET
S ATENRSELEMNIRE
EREETWEEEE -

XAEE (HE)

EAREERA > HERET
F&2E B 2 B (2022128318 : 5@ H
DR BERREESLBEMUNIREE
HMERETIKEIEEE > MUK EIEEE
FrfkiEMEEFTERRNVTMASED
REEHAEENIREELEMNIRE
ERHETUEEEE -

RAAREARAE
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HE

BREE

Annual Report 2023

Licences and

Development

permits costs Total
BB Rl E B 8% RY 25 4R%RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET
31 December 2023 20235128318
At 31 December 2022: F2022%128318 -
Cost B 72~ 90,567 9,071 99,638
Accumulated amortisation and Rt RRE
impairment (88,814) (4,698) (93,512)
Net carrying amount BRERE 1,753 4,373 6,126
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 42023518182
accumulated amortisation and A& - 0B
impairment RHeHEHRRE 1,753 4,373 6,126
Additions 1 hn - 17,003 17,003
Amortisation provided for the year £ P 2 35 32 {5 (428) (1,936) (2,364)
Exchange realignment ERAE (11) (77 (88)
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 1,314 19,363 20,677
At 31 December 2023: 120235128318 -
Cost 5% 90,327 25,957 116,284
Accumulated amortisation and FHBEHERIRE
impairment (89,013) (6,594) (95,607)
Net carrying amount IRERE 1,314 19,363 20,677
31 December 2022 20224E12831H
At 1 April 2022: 72022464818 -
Cost DN 100,061 10,003 110,064
Accumulated amortisation and et R E
impairment (84,554) (3,573) (88,127)
Net carrying amount BREFE 15,507 6,430 21,937
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of 20224818 2
accumulated amortisation and R4S E > 0B
impairment Rt HRRE 15,507 6,430 21,937
Amortisation provided for the period £ P9 12 55 35 5 (12,661) (1,499) (14,160)
Exchange realignment BE 52 3 2 (1,093) (558) (1,651)
At 31 December 2022 1220228128 31H 1,753 4373 6,126
At 31 December 2022: F22022%128318 -
Cost B 72 90,567 9,071 99,638
Accumulated amortisation and Rt RRE
impairment (88,814) (4,698) (93,512)
Net carrying amount IR E 1,753 4,373 6,126

=
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

16.

17.

14 BRI

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Upon the review of the estimated useful lives of certain
licences and permits by the management with effect from 1 April
2022, the Group accelerated the amortisation of certain licences
and permits. This change in accounting estimate has been applied
prospectively and has resulted in an increase in amortisation of
HK$9,247,000 for the nine months ended 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

16.

17.

HeBHEEE @

EEEBEEHE THRMFIEN
HEt Al EAFERETESR » 652022
F4R1B#E » XEBMIRBHE TR
BRAFFOE o 2 g et bt ESHEWAT
BEMEFE R > W R E 20228128 31
B LEAE B B84 15 509,247,000 7T ©

BRARBEFABDZEMEE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#Ex FET
Unlisted fund investments, at fair value FELIHEESRE
BARBESE 9,000 -

The above unlisted fund investment was mandatorily
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as
its contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

On 19 April 2023, the Group entered into an agreement
to subscribe for an investment fund in a principal amount of
HK$10,000,000. The principal objective of the fund is to maximise
capital appreciation and achieve returns to investors. The fund
is managed by Tianda Asset Management Limited, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company.

MR LHdIF EHEZRENEH
ReERENFEAXNERERIE
FIaHREARAAEEF AR
ZEMEE-

12023548198 » REEETILI
HED AN E £10,000,0008 TR EE
ToRETNTEAREAKREEESR
REANEARIZEMER -ZEEH
TABNRARMBARNRAKEEERE
BERARER -
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 18. IEE AR AAEBESIAEERM@E

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Wam Z RAIZE

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20235 20225
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Equity investments designated at fair value IEEARAREBEIGARE
through other comprehensive income EEWEZZRERE
Listed equity investments, EHREAKE
ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited SRERMBRAR
American Depositary Shares, at fair value EEEFERS -
BAREE 216 741
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated MU ERARIGE TS A o] FiiH s E
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group AEARBEEFAHEZENE
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. AREERAILEREBRIEME -
19. INVENTORIES 19. &8
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023% 20225
12A31H 12H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Raw materials R 25,465 17,878
Work in progress TR 17,126 13,297
Finished goods BT 22,557 17,018
65,148 48,193
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. FEURBRF K BN E 4%

146 ESEEECPE

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FAET
Trade receivables FE U BR FX 72,586 96,620
Impairment A (1,748) (963)
70,838 95,657
Bills receivable R ZE 33,963 43,095
104,801 138,752
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEEBREFZEZAFREE

credit, except for new customers where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit periods range from 60 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

LEElRAE > EMER—REERL
IR - EEHIERE R60E180RAF o
AEBHRESRBUBRIBERTBRRE
> IRAGEEENFIREE AR
BRERK SREEREEHEREH
RBR BN EXFRIEERRAERZ
BUERRRERRBEIRRZER
WI\BAEREERR - SEE L
ER AR EWARRAGERAVIR IR mEl
HEeaE8 25 - BRI EW
REAREE -
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEWERF R FEUREE (@)

RE|EHR > UERAPAEE
MR FEW AR TR Z B E RS 1R R B B UK
IR RN R ZARE DM T -

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables, is as
follows:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224F

12H31H 12H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Within 2 months A= 77,582 105,161
2 to 3 months 2E3EB 6,071 3,275
Over 3 months MEB UL 21,148 30,316
104,801 138,752

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

mE:

FEWERRR Z R ER R H 2 E#F

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

12H31H 12H318

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#Ex FAET

At beginning of year/period REHR¥D 963 560
Impairment losses, net MBS FEE 785 468
Exchange realignment BE SRR - (65)
At end of year/period RE,HRE& 1,748 963

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by assigning an internal credit rating with reference to
the historical records of the Group to determine the probability
of default. Loss given default is estimated based on market
information. The loss rate is then adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

BESHREREEHET 5
XNASEXEBIBECERE TR
EEFHR > UEEENFIREMN - &
WERDIRETIZER G - BEE
HEgFHAZE  URMREFERLR
HARRQBERTOTER (MMBEA) - —
RME > BUERRINEEBE—FH
FEZBEIHITEERIRE > BIGHHE -
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31 December 2023 20234 12531 H
20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. FEURBRF K BN E 4 (@)

TXHINAEEBMBWIRRZEE

Set out below is the information about the credit risk

exposure on the Group’s trade receivables: R RE R
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
Class of credit rating EE:F4REER Notes loss rate amount losses
FEHfES FEHEE
B 5 BHEE HIREE 548
% HK$°000 HK$’000
FE FET
As at 31 December 2023 H420235%12831H
Class 1 £ (i) - 45,577 -
Class 2 B04F (i) 0.02 11,152 2
Class 3 5348 (i) 1.71 9,891 169
Class 4 5458 (iv) 3.33 4,540 151
Credit impaired receivables BEERERWIRR 100.00 1,426 1,426
Total i 72,586 1,748
As at 31 December 2022 720225128310
Class 1 Rk - 57,456 -
Class 2 $F248 0.04 3,354 1
Class 3 55348 1.64 33,876 556
Class 4 $F448 3.20 1,579 51
Credit impaired receivables BEERERWIRR 100.00 355 355
Total a5t 96,620 963
Notes: MisE

Class 1 customers maintain active business with the Group and have a
good repayment history. Receivables were not yet past due.

Class 2 customers maintain active business with the Group and have
a good repayment history. Certain portion of receivables from these
customers were past due but the Group expects that the receivables
can be recovered.

Class 3 customers have no recent transactions with the Group but
have a good repayment history. Receivables were past due but the
Group expects that the receivables can be recovered.

Class 4 customers have past due receivables and the Group expects
high risk of irrecoverability for the receivables.

The bills receivable are due within 90 days. In the opinion of

TP HEAERREEEERER
BB RYF o FEURARRR IS RIAER o

RS RAE RS ERERER
RIBIGEIR R © IS T 5 00T
USER AR LR » {87 6 I 78 2t 2 U
FEMBRRR ©

FMERRTMTEARERETR
S BERECHRYT - RWIRHE®
2 > (B E B TE 5 AT UL O FEIKRBRR ©

SRR PR E SN - B4ER
Tast AR EEIA W EIR = A

ZERREENOE A EIHF o 2

REEFRRR  AFRBREENQAR
BEAHKREERES  TEZHANZ
FRWFEVIEHRRE - L HEfE
WEERNTRENCSHEMAERE G
EREBENTRIAGERER -

the Company’s directors, the fair values of these bills receivable
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term
maturities of these receivables. There was no recent history of
default from bills receivable and the Group estimated that the
expected loss rate for bills receivable is minimal.
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

FRRIE ~ #E R HE R

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Non-current JETRED
Deposits for acquisition of items of: WENTEEZ#E !
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRE 572 981
Other intangible assets HeBEEE 34,650 25,991
35,222 26,972
Current e
Prepayments FAfTRIE 1,811 1,987
Deposits & 8,432 21,730
Other receivables HE B 2,312 2,826
12,555 26,543
Impairment allowance B E (1,050) (158)
11,505 26,385

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

deposits and other receivables are as follows:

BERHECERWRZ HERRRE
Bz EEBIWT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20235 20225

12A31H 12H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

At beginning of year/period RE EA%) 158 78
Impairment losses, net B FEE 892 90
Exchange realignment PERAE = (10)
At end of year/period R HR4R 1,050 158
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21.

22.

190 ESEEEEERE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  21. FE{IFXIE - &R E TR @
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$892,000 RE E2023F 12318 LEE »
(nine months ended 31 December 2022: HK$90,000) was 892,00078 7T (B E2022F 128318 LE A
charged as provision for expected credit losses on deposits and @A : 90,000 T) (FAREREERE
other receivables. The provision rates are based on an internal Wz AR E BB IEEE MO o #
credit rating with reference to the historical records of the Group BERERSEZAERBFCHRZA
to determine the probability of default. Loss given default is BEEFRUBTENRE - ELI8
estimated based on market information. The loss rate is then KILIRETIHE ST c BEREEM
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future B LU Pt A AR O e R R AR R
economic conditions, as appropriate. FEA (InEE) o

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXHINEEERZEREEEW
exposure on the Group’s deposits and other receivables: MZEERBER :

As at 31 December 2023 722023512831

Expected credit loss rate JEHRfE B EX 2.28%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) MERmEE (FA7T) 45,966
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHREER518 (T8 ) 1,050
As at 31 December 2022 122022128 31H

Expected credit loss rate FEHREEBEE 0.64%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) MARmEE (FAT) 24,556
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHAE B/ 18 (T8 ) 158
STRUCTURED DEPOSITS 22. HEEMER

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented wealth management products issued by banks. As at
31 December 2022, the aggregate principal of deposits and the
rates of return were not guaranteed. The structured deposits were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition. The fair values were based on the market
values provided by the banks at the end of the reporting period.

ERMEREAABEYER R
RIBTHTHNHESEE®R o 172022
F12B31H » ERA S4B 3E K [0 3R X
I IEMRE o EBMEERN E NERR
DEABBEZERMARABEZEH
BE QAABEREREBITRERSHE
KRiIREZHIHEE -
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash
and bank balances denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$136,393,000 (2022: HK$294,372,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese
Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

24. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

23.

24,

ReKkFELFEEE

REBER » ZEBMUARE
B 2R & R IR1T 4 85 4136,393,00078
7€ (20224 : 294,372,000 7T) o AR
FOEHRBAHCEE  AMKRE
o ] A Bk I BE B AR 1) e 4 B ~ S BB
RGESEHRE  cEERSBEE
EITIEERZRTHEARKRRS
He &

EFRIRTZREEENESHIRTE
ARG FEBF KRR R - IRITHE
BRERRROTEERCHZEER
YFRYERTT ©

FE A BR AR

REBEREHR > UERAHRE
ERNBMIRRZERE DM T :

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20235 20224

12831 12H31H

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FAEIT

Within 2 months pA(EN=NA 80,762 63,757
2 to 3 months 223EB 1,368 988
Over 3 months 3MEB U E 23,888 6,595
106,018 71,340

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within terms of 30 to 60 days.

A RMA AR > —fRIN30E
BORABE ©
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25.  OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25, HEENRKRESER
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20235 20224
12H31H 12831H
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
M5 FEx TFET
Contract liabilities aHaR (a) 13,714 111,733
Other payables HERBMR (b) 11,342 24,717
Accruals FEstEH 63,826 70,841
Dividend payables FEfTRZ 2 M 39
88,923 207,330
Notes: MisE -

(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) BHEEFBEUOT:
31 December 31 December 31 March
2023 2022 2022
20234 20224F 20224F
12831H 128318 3831H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FET

Short-term advances received from customers BUE B iFHIE R

Sale of products HESM 13,714 111,733 14,078

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver
pharmaceutical products and provide medical services. The decrease
in contract liabilities in current year was mainly due to the decrease in
short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sale of
pharmaceutical and Chinese medical products at the end of the year.

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average credit
term of three months.

BHNAREEINBEERRIRMHE
BIRBZNEWIEHRER - AEEGH
BERVIERHANERMBERSD
BEERHEZBERTREHBMRELD
FREQ »

() HEBMRAANE > FHIEERH
=f@aR-

RAAREARAE
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. stEIRITEM
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ABENAYA ANENBYA
Effective Effecive
inferest inferest
rate () Maturify HKS000 rate (%) Meturty HK§ 000
) SR Tin BEAIZY) IR TEn
Curtent; it
Bank loans - secured RTET-50E China Loan Prime piilt 5410 [PR% m 4674
Rate'LPR") 1%
RE S NUE MEEHTHS BE
ST BEAZN
Bank oans - unsecured RiTEH - LPR #0.45% 0 6 Nl Nl
REERHE NUE & B
REREMY
96,492 4674
Non-current: i
Bank loans - secured RTET-51E LPR% 05 835 LPR1% 2004- 2005 6107
REERTE WBE MREHTE  UE-N5E
ST REFZMN
104,850 126,646
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 26. FFREIRITER @
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
12831H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FAET
Analysed into: PP
Bank loans repayable: ARMUTHEEEN
RITEM !
Within one year or on demand —FAREREEER 96,492 64,674
In the second year BE_ERN 8,358 53,554
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BZEFHER
(BEEEMF) - 8,418
104,850 126,646
Notes: MisE
(@)  The bank loans bear interest at floating rates at the LPR, published by (@ SRITERRTEAE BIHFREARERT
the People’s Bank of China, plus 0.45% to 1% and are denominated in RGN ERTIBREFIZEN045%E1%)
Renminbi. STEMEUAREAE o
(b)  As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank loans were secured by the (b)  FA2023FE128318 » BIRFIRITERIU
pledge of certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets and property, plant 408 BE T < B8 49 % 253,965,00058 7T (2022
and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$253,965,000 £ : 253,789,000/ ) A E B E T F
(2022: HK$253,789,000). RAEBEEUARYE BERSZEFEER
"o
(c)  Asat 31 December 2023, the Group had unutilised banking facilities of (c) FR2023F12B31B AEBXRFAHZ
HK$148,280,000 (2022: HK$42,202,000). $8 7 B & 7148,280,0003% 7T (20224F

42,202,000 7T) ©

IV xAzEEREAR
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27.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES EERE&R
Fair value
adjustment
arising from Other
acquisition of intangible
a subsidiary assets Total
g — R
MEATE
EB%z HE
[RBEERE BREE e
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MiysE THET THET THET
At 1 April 2022 1202248 1H 383 4,269 4,652
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss HMRERGETAZ
during the period EIERE 10 (42) (3,308) (3,350)
Exchange realignment ERAE (35) (305) (340)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 7220228128318 &
2023%E181H 306 656 962
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FREEGHAZ
during the year EIERIE 10 (55) (290) (345)
Exchange realignment ERAE 2) 4) (6)
At 31 December 2023 12023FE 128310 249 362 611

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong and
Australia of HK$191,870,000 (2022: HK$171,780,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group has tax
losses arising in Macau of HK$1,397,000 (2022: HK$984,000)
and that will expire in one to three years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Chinese Mainland HK$97,853,000 (2022: HK$77,703,000) and
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen from subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

AEBEREEARBRKA
TMAEREARIEHELESGEZ
NEIWRKRERR EF ZRNIBEHIE
191,870,0003% 7T (20224 : 171,780,000
B cAEBAFRERMAMA AR
WA RERREFN R —E=F
A & i 2 R IE 518 1,397,00078 7T (2022
F 1984,00087T) cAEBITEIERER
FR R A BE T A B AR HE 8 R SR FE SR R i
MEBR—ZE2ERFREMZRIEEIE
97,853,000 75 (20224 : 77,703,0005%
7o) °©

MR & EERKE EBIE—KRE
BHMEAR > BB R T KETREHE
st M RS IR FE 518 » i L
ZEGRERIELEIRAEE °

003 JRES



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MTSRERMRE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 27.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese
Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 5% (31 December 2022: 5%).
The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders.

RERIBEE @)

BEPBETGXEFRFERZEZ @K
B EAMERIIBIINEIRE B
SNEREEMEIRRE BBMI0%H
FEIOD - B E B2008F1 A1 A
@A R2007E1N2BMNHEBEEENE
F) o 418 HR [ A e B A $2 B B P 1 =
FERETURBELN - BRENEINR
EFRE - MEAEEMS > BERE
5% (202246128318 : 5%) o E LA
EEBEMPEAKRERIINZERBA
F B2008F1 B 1HEEEE B F 2K
BIRR BB ANTEINR ©

AT A HE R AR S A
HAEIRER -

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B&#
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20235 20224
12H31H 12831H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Authorised: SERE .
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 4,000,000,0008% & &
HK$0.1 each HEIBTZEER 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE
2,150,041,884 ordinary shares of 2,150,041,884% = i%
HK$0.1 each HE0 1B T i@ 215,004 215,004

1% EEEEEEPE
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29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 68 of the financial
statements.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of the disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal
of Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Tinwise
Group”) in 2010 as a deemed contribution from a shareholder;
(2) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair value of
the disposal of the packaging and printing business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company;
and (3) the excess of the disposal consideration over the fair
value of the disposal of mineral resources business in 2012 as a
deemed capital contribution from the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary
acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange in 1992.

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements
and (2) the provision for production safety being accrued by a
subsidiary in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based
on operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety
funds), which is transferred from retained profits to the statutory
reserves and could be utilised when expenses and capital
expenditures in production maintenance and safety measures are
incurred.

The capital reserve represents the difference between
the consideration paid and the carrying amount of the additional
interests of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) acquired by the
Group on 30 September 2023. Details of the transaction are
disclosed in note 33(b)(ii).

29.

&

24 S 1 30 5 0 2 s AR R A
GETIE N e =P i
HEBE o

HEHELR 20100EHE K
NEEEME A S Tinwise Investment
Limited B LB B 2 B (458 MTinwisefe
B zREBERFIEEZARER
EA—BRRZHRIEHE ; (2) 20125
HEBERNBER ZRKESHFH
EZAREBE X FARKERATZ
BIEHE , RO 20NEHERES R
(¥R Z2RESRFHEZARER
EARBERABTZAELHE -

BB EARBRBE—IRAE
BEARRQBTRMI1992F TP £
METZ AR EMEFRETZRAEE
BIPTRIE— R B AR Z RAEEW
Bz E

EE BTSN R E R AL Z Y
BRABZEEZFRBEREEZEMBHRE
MmEZMZZH B RF ZRIREEF
FHETERLEZAERQEERSE
ZBE o LT — R R R B A B UE
EIRABBER T F2%EA%Z BEIEF]
RELX HEREELZZES) > AR
BRMNEREAERE  BERNEES
BRZEEREESZHRERFHXEF
A -

BB EAERI2023F9IH30
HUKBBRY R K22 (Erg) EBIMER MY
BENREAREEZENEE X5
BB MY EE33(b) (i) PR T o
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30.

31.

18 B

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The Group has no material non-controlling interests as
at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: HK$26,411,000)
subsequent to the acquisition of the remaining 45% interest
in Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) held by Yunnan Li Nuo
Biotechnology Co., Limited (“Li Nuo”), at a consideration of
RMB23,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$25,228,000)
on 30 September 2023. Upon the completion of the transaction,
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) became an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. This transaction does
not involve in a change in control over Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Yunnan). Details of the transaction are disclosed in note 33(b)(ii).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
There was no major non-cash transactions during year
ended 31 December 2023.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had non-cash additions to the right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$5,640,000 and HK$5,640,000 respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for clinics, offices and
warehouses.

30.

31.

BEAEEANFEREDNNBDER
B AT

REE2023FIH0FURBA
R #523,500,0007¢ (8 & #* 925,228,000
B WBEEmAMEEMEMERA
8 (TFIEE)) FrisRREE (B 5T
45%HE 35 18 > 1220235128318 (2022
F12831H : 26,411,000 7T) LESE K
JEERIER - RZTME » RAEEE
(Bf) RATARNBEZEEZERBR
B o RERBURTRRAKEEE (B
) R ES XFFE BN
33(b) (i) 7 E& ©

FERERERMEE

(a) EEFRERS
RBE0L8F12831B LLEE >
BEIBFRERS -

8 E20228128318 1L AL @
B Xx&EBMZHA MAEREE
B E L5 > 2 5! H5,640,0007 7T K
56400008 T RS ERAREERK
HERGEM -
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

ERIREMERME @

(b) WMEFHEENRGEEE:

Interest-

Lease bearing bank Dividend

liabilities borrowings payables

HE&SE IR 1a M OEARE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

At1 April 2022 1202244518 12540 147,893 34

Changes from financing cash flows KB EIRERENES) (3,674) (7,681) -

New leases wmHEE 5,640 - -

Dividend declared EEIRKE - - 17,630

Dividends paid BKRE - - (17,625)

Interest expense FEREX (487) (4,556) -
Interest paid classified as operating D {EARKEIRERE

cash flows [S3RERS, 487 4,556 -
Foreign exchange movement ShEEEED (102) (13,566) -
At 31 December 2022 and 20228128318 &

1 January 2023 202318518 14,404 126,646 39
Changes from financing cash flows RERMERSRENEH) (5,626) (20,952) -
Dividend declared EEIRKRE - = 5,590
Dividends paid BARE - - (5,588)
Interest expense FMEMAZ (572) (4,374) —
Interest paid classified as operating D{EARKEREREZ

cash flows [SEREINSS 572 4,374 -
Foreign exchange movement ShEEEED (31) (844) =
At 31 December 2023 220235128318 8,747 104,850 41

=
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31.

FLOWS (continued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

EEREMERME @)

(c) THERIRERNIEEE
FAGERERERNIRETNL

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: HEEEANE -
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE20235F B E20225F
12H31H 128318
ILEE LEAEA
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#Ex FET
Within operating activities REEEFHA (2,526) (2,043)
Within financing activities KRB EHA (5,626) (3,674)
(8,152) (5,717)
COMMITMENTS 32. FKIE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the

end of the reporting period:

FEBRBERREUATERXK

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20235 20224F
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Contracted, but not provided for: BETAEREME
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 49,800 80,039
Other intangible assets HeEBrEE 14,950 6,446
64,750 86,485

1600 B




Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 December 2023 20235125 31H

33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. FAEALRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) MRMBBRRETCHHFLZRZS
these financial statements, the Group had the following h > REBRE HIRERAEA
transactions with related parties during the year/period: TETUTRS .
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE01E HZE200E
12831H 12831
ILEFE EhEA
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B E FER FET
Sales of pharmaceuticals and medical SHEEYMBERKER .
technologies products:
Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate KBXERME
Company Limited ERAT (i) 16 1,500
Sales of healthcare products: HERRBER .
Yunnan Py’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. EfZEREXHRE (ii)
BRAT 51 155
Sales of healthcare products: HERBER
Tianda Group (Australia) RAEE (RAFITE) (il
Pty. Ltd. BRAFE 386 -
Purchases of package materials and ~ fRB& B 5 R ENRI¥
designing services:
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing ~ Bki8 48543 & 30l B EN 75 (iv)
Co. Ltd.* BRAE® 14,842 10,521
Short-term lease payment for office, ~ IHAE  BEKRZFIH
warehouse and clinics: HHREEM®
Tianda (China) Ltd. KRB (PE) BERAR (v) 545 422
Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited LBARREXERAT (vi) 1,079 801
Purchases of consumer goods: REHEM .
Tianda (China) Ltd. XREE (PE) BRAR (vii) 140 85
Design fee expenses: HetE .
Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd.* FINEXAKBIBZBERAE" (viii) 50 20

161
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes:

U]

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vi)

(vii)

([ *rzesREAR

Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate Company Limited is a fellow subsidiary
of the Company. The sales to Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate Company
Limited were made according to the published prices and conditions
offered to major customers of the Group.

Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The sales to Yunnan Pu’ Er Tea Developments Ltd. were
made according to the published prices and conditions offered to major
customers of the Group.

Tianda Group (Australia) Pty. Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company. The sales to Tianda Group (Australia) Pty. Ltd. were made
according to the published prices and conditions offered to major
customers of the Group.

Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary
of the Company. The purchases from Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng
Printing Co. Ltd. were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered by Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. to
its major customers.

Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited is a fellow subsidiary of the Company.
The transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

Tianda (China) Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company. The
purchases from Tianda (China) Ltd. were made according to the
published prices and conditions offered by the Tianda (China) Ltd. to
its major customers.

Shenzhen Tianda Creative Ltd. is a fellow subsidiary of the Company.
The transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

These related party transactions also constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RE &
MisE
(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

(vii)

(vii)

ARG @)

KEXERMERARARAERRN
BREMEBEAR  -@KEXRIEEMES
RABMHETRAREBERRAALE
EEXEEXRREMIFEET -

EREEREXERARABDRER
BNEAMBAR BMEBEERE
FUERBRABDNHEDIRARER
hAFERTERFRENETET -

RREE (RAFE) BRABAER
BINERMB AR - MRXAER (RK
FEE) ARABMNEEDEARERK
mAEEETEERREMNFEEET -

BEREREHMENBAERATD HE
AENERMEBEAR - MEREEES
AN AR QB RBRIZIKIEE
ERERENBAERARRHEGEE
BEERZEBAMEBERRIFR

RAREBE (hE) ARABD AT AF
BREMEAR - ARXZHEESE
BERBZIER R RFETT -

KBRAREXBRABDA/TABNE
RAMBAR - ARARXZHEESHEE
BB ZIER R AR ETT

RAREHE (TE) BRATDAERRH
BARWBAR -MRXAEE (FE) A
RABFBRBERAEE (FE) BIR
NERMEETEZRZERMHERE
AR ©

FRINKRAIEBERABD AT AFNE
AMBAR - AMXZHREHEE
B R ZIER R AR ETT

ZEMEALRZTMEM LHRRIF14A
EFREZFERERS °
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33. BAEALRS @
(b)  Other transactions with related parties: (b)) BRABATHEERS:

(i)

During the year, on 19 April 2023, the Group entered
into an agreement to subscribe for an investment
fund in a principal amount of HK$10,000,000. The
principal objective of the fund is to maximise capital
appreciation and achieve returns to investors. The
fund is managed by Tianda Asset Management
Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

The above related party transactions also constituted
a connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

On 1 August 2023, Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical
Co., Limited (“Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an equity transfer agreement (the “Agreement”)
with Yunnan Li Nuo Biotechnology Co., Limited
(“Li Nuo”), the 45% minority shareholder of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan), which is 55% owned
by the Group. Pursuant to the Agreement, Yunyu
Bio-Pharmaceutical will acquire this remaining 45%
interest in Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) held
by Li Nuo at a consideration of RMB23,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$25,228,000). Upon
the completion of the transaction on 30 September
2023, Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan) became an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
This transaction does not involve in a change in
control over Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Yunnan).

Further details of this transaction can be found in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 August 2023.
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=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

1 RS

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary:

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an
outstanding trade balance due from a fellow subsidiary,
Tianda Group (Australia) Pty. Ltd. of HK$312,000 as at
the end of reporting period, which was payable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had an
outstanding trade balance due from a fellow subsidiary,
Zhuhai Tianheng Real Estate Company Limited of
HK$1,399,000 as at the end of reporting period, which was
payable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

The above balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and with a credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting
period, the balance was aged within 2 months based on the
invoice date.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries:

33.

RBEALRE @
c) EUR—HERRKBABIME:

122023128310 » AE BRI
STHRBRERMBARRAER (R
AFE) BARABZKREEE B EER
#3312,0008 7T » R RIBR U @A
EEFEZRRHENEEHRM A -

120225128318 » " E B R 3R
SHRERRERBATKERIEE
MEBRRABZAEEESZEHRS
1,399,000/ 75 » Z BB UN |4
ERFERFRRENEEBRRIZM -

EREHRBEET REREE
HAZO0K - MR EHIR » AR Z R
BRARBERZEHMZMERRA -

(d ENERHRBARRIE:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20235 20224

12H31H 12H31H

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B 5 F#ER FET

Trade and bills payables P& {5 BR 70 e FE UL 22 (i) 11,975 9,390
Short-term lease payable FRHAERMEE (ii) 483 344
12,458 9,734
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33 BAEALRZ @
Notes: sk
(i)  The Group had trade balances due to fellow subsidiaries of the (i) rEEEMRAMBRARLKE
Company, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. and BRESEHKENFERAT &
Tianda (China) Ltd., of HK$11,810,000 (2022: HK$9,225,000) AAREBE (FE) BRATZR
and HK$165,000 (2022: HK$165,000), respectively. B8 8 5 & 87 9 5 #11,810,000
BT (20224 © 9,225,000 7T) K
165,0007 7T (20224 : 165,0007
7o) °
The balances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and with a AR AREIEE 2EREEH
credit term of 90 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the A90K o RIMEHAFR > ZMEHZ
balances were aged within 2 months based on invoice date. R ARBEZEAHZHEA
W o
(i) The Group had lease payable to a fellow subsidiary of the iy HAEEEGEAAT—HERZRMK
Company, Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited, of HK$483,000 (2022: BAGIKBRAEERRAT
HK$344,000). The balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing B 7 & %483,0007% 7T (20224 :
and repayable on demand. 34400078 7T) ° LR A EIR
BB RIBERMEER-
(e) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: ) AEEHFEEEAEGME:
Nine months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
#HE20235 #HE20226F
12H31H 128318
IEFFE LEAEA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Short-term employee benefits FRHEERT 5,149 4,642
Post-employment benefits RIREF 920 68
Total compensation paid to ENEFEEEASMNE
key management personnel “xn 5,239 4,710
Further details of directors' and the chief executive’s ERESERIEBTBRAEMEZ

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.

E—THBHN M HIRERMEES
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

34.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

34.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

TR TAZ R

REBSHRSEEMTAZRE
BENT:

31 December 2023 2023%12A31H
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
Financial assets fair value
at fair value Financial through other
through assets at comprehensive
profit or loss amortised cost income Total
RAREE REERE BRAREE
ftAREZ Jlkz  GAEERE
EHEE tHEE WEZEMEE ELH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TERr TERr T#n
Equity investments designated at farr 35 E A A A EEE A
value through other comprehensive ~ EE2EWEZ
income KARE - - 216 216
Financial assets at fair value through R A ABE ABEZ
profit or loss tHEE 9,000 - - 9,000
Trade and bills receivables RURD R ERZE - 104,801 - 104,801
Due from a fellow subsidiary El—BRZKBAFTE - M2 - KV
Financial assets included in SABRATE
prepayments, deposits and other R ERECEKHZ
receivables THEE - 44,916 - 44,916
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEER - 162,442 - 162,442
9,000 312,471 216 321,687
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(continued)

Financial liabilities

ER TR ZER @)

RBEERRZETH TR ZRE
BN (4)

E AN

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

Yt S Y A 5 BR

ZEMEaRE

HK$’000

FE&xT

Trade payables FE {3 BR X 106,018
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAHERMARRESEA

and accruals ZEHMBE 63,428

Interest-bearing bank borrowings T RERITS 104,850

Lease liabilities HEAaE 8,747

Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRKB AR RIE 12,458

295,501
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34.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

34.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

ER TR ZEER @)

REBSHRSEEMTAZRE
BMT : (4)

(continued)
31 December 2022 20225128318
Financial assets EMEE
Financial
assets at
Financial assets fair value
at fair value Financial through other
through assets at comprehensive
profit or loss amortised cost income Total
BRAREE b8 SE I BAREE
FABEZ Jlikz  HARE2A
tHEE tHEE KEZEMEE fag
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Equity investments designated EEABRRABERA
at fair value through other He2EWEZRARE
comprehensive income - - T# #
Trade and bills receivables ElRERR R ENE R - 138,752 - 138,752
Due from a fellow subsidiary ElR—ERZHEABTE - 1,399 - 1,399
Financial assets included in SHABATE#BER
prepayments, deposits and other HEEBHZEREE
receivables - 51,370 - 51,370
Structured deposits EEMED 3,167 - - 3,167
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEER - 340,217 - 340,217
3,167 531,798 T 535,706
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 4. EMITAEZER @
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REBESHRSBEMTRAZRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BT @ (&)
(continued)
31 December 2022 20225128318
Financial liabilities E 43R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R H R AT BR
ZEmMEAER
HK$'000
FET
Trade payables FEAT BR TR 71,340
Financial liabilities included in other st AR E IR 5t B A
payables and accruals ZEMan 80,085
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st BIRITERR 126,646
Lease liabilities HEAE 14,404
Due to fellow subsidiaries ERRKB AR RIE 9.734
302,209

003 [
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL ~ 35. &M THAZRAABEKRAAEBE
INSTRUMENTS £
The carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s FEENERTIE (KEEHNE
financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that HIEEmBEHEQAABESEREERIN)
reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows: REERAABEUWT
Carrying amounts Fair values
IRE(E AREE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 20226 20235 20226
128318 128318 128318 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET FER FET
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at fair value BAREEFABEZ
through profit or loss TRIEE 9,000 - 9,000 -
Equity investments designated EEARRINEE
at fair value through other StAHEZEWR
comprehensive income ZREKE 216 741 216 741
Structured deposits ERMEER - 3,167 = 3,167
9,216 3,908 9,216 3,908
Financial liabilities EMER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st EIRITER 104,850 126,646 104,676 126,959

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, an amount due from a fellow
subsidiary, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

EEEEN G BWERRRIE
WRE - SFARMRE -REREE
RWRZzERMEE - B —RBRE ZRH
BABME REKkREFEER
FEATERAR ~ StAHERAMKRES &
RAzERMBaRUAKRENERHEAS
MEZAABERESB ZREENE
> TEARZEFLAREHAREIE -

RAAREARAE
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35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on the market values
provided by the licensed corporation at the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income is based on quoted market prices.

The fair values of structured deposits were based on the
market values provided by the bank at the end of the reporting
period. They are estimated with the principal plus estimated
interest income based on the expected annual rate of return.

The fair values of bills receivable and interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair
values of the interest-bearing bank borrowings are categorised in
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

35.

ERMIAEZAREBERAAEE
LR @)

ERHEERBBZANEBERE
BREES GERamERHEE) 2B
ERZPETIIRNITANEIEA
iR o BB T A ERBRMEFTAA
BE:

BRANBESABRZZEHEE
NARBEARBTEERN RS
RgHHHIBEEERE

BRARBESFARCZEREZ
REKEZARBEDERTZRE °

ERETEMIRAAEETLRIERR
TRREMREHNTESE - ZF
FRUAE N ERFARFOREGE
B 5 A S WA G5

RWEE R BIRITERNAR
BEDRAEFHLUFR - FEARK
FEFEIHAAMN T RNRAMNXRLIER
HARRIRERESE - 5FRRITEN
NARBESEAAABESTHAN
SB2MR ©

ARAELSH
TROBFEHSUTANAR
BWEESR -
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 35, #RITHEZ AABERAAEE

INSTRUMENTS (continued) Z 1R ()
Assets measured at fair value BARBEHAENEE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20235 20225
12H31H 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Structured deposits EEEER
— Fair value measurement using significant —UEARITHRE
observable inputs (Level 2) A B
ETAREE
st &2 (5824R) - 3,167
Equity investments at fair value through BAnEBESAHE
other comprehensive income EPEREZBRAGE
— Fair value measurement using quoted —LUEETSERE
prices in active markets (Level 1) EITAREE
st (5814R) 216 741
Financial assets at fair value through BAREBESAEBERZZ
profit or loss EHEE
- Fair value measurement using significant — U E KT8 A 8
observable inputs (Level 2) EITARBESE
(5B24R) 9,000 -
The equity investments at fair value through other BAnEBESFAHEEZAREZ
comprehensive income are listed on the National Association BARZEESXZEHEEBRE
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations (‘“NASDAQ”) Stock 2 (TR iER ) REMIHZ LT o
Market.
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at 7120234 5220228128318 » 7
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. SERTEMAAABEFENEREH
B
During the period, there were no transfers of fair value R sHEERETHMEBELR
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into FIREE2R 2B A NEESEERE
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities DA T G 4 8 A B8 L SR 34K (B 2022
(nine months ended 31 December 2022: Nil). F12B31BLENER : &) -
RAEEFRAF
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents and equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
structured deposits, trade payables, other payables and an
amount due to a fellow subsidiary.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the values of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (note 17) and equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(note 18) as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s unlisted investment fund (note 17) comprised
an investment in a private fund. The Group managed the equity
price risk through diversification of investment portfolio. The
underlying investments held by these funds include listed equity
securities and structured financing products. The fair value of
these investments may change significantly based on broader
macroeconomic conditions, overall capital and investment
markets conditions, and factors associated with underlying assets
within the private fund portfolio.

36.

TRl AR EIEE R RER

FEENTEEMTAGCER
ER|EEERBUARBERANEES
AREZEBmZRERKRE - ZFE
MIANTZENZRTEAEENE
B-AEEEEFEANECEMEE
hafE > RBERRKREREE H
ERWR - BRI ER - BAIRR
HEBRNRKREMN—HERELRR
TRIE o

rEREMIAEEENTERE
ﬁﬂ?éﬂxZKﬁaﬁgflﬁw B E R 9Fﬁ§

B EERRERHESEE o
%%%Tt%mﬁmﬁﬁﬁéﬂMm
BEE > WHERanF o

Bz s (& 4% B
RAEBHRERERIESFNANL
BEARZEHOKTHNENESEE
g6 T B AR o 722023512831
B> ~EEEHRRAREEFAET
Z2EMEE (17 URIEEARA
AEBEFARCZEVRDZZRERE
(FE18) EERIRABREE

FEENELTRERS (M
17) BEH—EMLAEESNRE - &
EZEBDHIREHESKREERAES
Bk ZEEERAENEMKESRE
ITHREABSREEEREEM &
ERENAAEBEETREEREZ
HNERBRKERR - BREXKRKET
MUREMABEEREHSANERE
EMANEEmMEEEREL -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The Group’s equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are listed investments are
listed on the NASDAQ and are valued at quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period. The market equity indices for the
following stock exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest
trading day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and their

36. SRIEMEEEEREE @)

R s (B 4% B ()
FEENEE RSB AREESA
He2ERazRERES LHKRE
BrtiiriEs £ WIS IR
WIS RERE A TEHFRBA®
GREEH (FERARBERSHAR
R 5% B R UURESEHIREE

respective highest and lowest points during the year/period were BExmdailxESROT
as follows:
High/low Highflow
during the during the nine
As at year ended Asat  months ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2022 2022
B/f& 5/
HENBE HE00E

20236 12838 10008 128318
12A3H LEE 128318 LN fER

The United States - NASDAQ Composite Index EE-QHERESEY

15,011 15,150/10,265 10,466 14,534/10,089

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

TRAPAHREIREAANEBES
S2HUNHRAE FrIEHECEHRET
FEYKRES REMRBZZE)
BERERKRENRSHARNREE
S

RAAREARAE
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36.

Annual Report 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. S RiEPEEIEBE KRB @)

POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued) RAERE RS (8
Carrying
amount Increase/
of equity (decrease)
investment in equity
RARE e 12 N
HEREE / GR)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F128MBILEE
Investments listed in: RULTF#AE EHRE -
The United States — Equity investments EE—EEAERAR 216 2/(2)
designated at fair value through other BESFAHEZA
comprehensive income Wz BAKE
Nine months ended 31 December 2022 B E2022F12831B L NEA
Investments listed in: RUTH#S EHRE
The United States — Equity investments EE-EEARAA 741 7I(7)
designated at fair value through other BEStAHEEZE
comprehensive income Wz AT E
Interest rate risk FERAE

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances and interest-bearing bank borrowings with a floating
interest rate. The Group has not used any interest rate derivatives
to hedge its interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant

interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents and

interest-bearing bank borrowings).

HHERF AR -

TEROTE) -

FEEEHRTRMNREHERE
BHEAERRIIIRGFENHEER
IRITHE R IA K5t BIRITERER - &
EETERERERAMRITETRNS
AHMERRRE RN AERERERE

TRBPBEFABRHECEHFEFTA
BHER MXSEAREEHHEAE
PRI AR BRE (B8 F 7
ERFEERRESFSERBUKRGER
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £fEMEEIEBZREE @)

POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) FIERER (&
Increasel(decrease) in
loss before tax
gm, GR)
Nine months
Year ended ended
Increase/(decrease) 31 December 31 December
in basis points 2023 2022
BEABE  HE20NF
2Em/ 128318 128318
(&) ILEFE ENER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THET
HK$ BT 100 (248) (445)
RMB N 100 (315) (1,709)
HK$ BT (100) 248 445
RMB AR (100) 315 1,709

(WOl =<5 RAT
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. &rIEAMEBIEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk 5h 45 =L B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such TEEEERZEKER - B
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies AR REKESEMNEMNINERE
other than the units' functional currencies. Approximately 1.5% LUSMN G HE 2 SHEE © 491.5% (B F 2022
(nine months ended 31 December 2022: 1.6%) of the Group’s F12AMNHLENER :1.6%) 2HKEH
sales were denominated in currencies other than the functional HERUEITHE 2 KRS EMNEN
currencies of the operating units making the sale. INREBEH LN E R ABEHEE -
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the TRAPAETMMEHECEHRETR
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in EBHER  SMNEEXRSIEREEHYE
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held REFERRA (B518) &AM R IREE
constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax. RGP RE o
Change in Increase/
foreign (decrease)
currency in loss
rate before tax
S5p MRRAIESIE
EXEE #m - (RL)
% HK$’000
FET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12AMBILEE
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTHR 1 (241)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTERLH (1) 241
If RMB weakens against AUD WEARBRRTERTEK 1 ()
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEAREZRTER A (1) 5
If RMB weakens against MOP HEAREREPTERTH 1 (7
If RMB strengthens against MOP HEARERBEPTER LA (1) 7
Nine months ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022512B31HIENER
If RMB weakens against HK$ HEARBRBITERTHR 1 (420)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ HEARBRBTERLH (1) 420
If RMB weakens against AUD HEARBRRITERTEK 1 (4)
If RMB strengthens against AUD HEAREERTER A (1) 4
If RMB weakens against MOP HMEARBRERMTEERT® 1 (8)
If RMB strengthens against MOP WEANREDEMTER EH (1) 8

003 R



178

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  36. ®RiRAMGEIEREBREREEK @
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk EE R
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REREEFDUIREERFNE
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who —HETRZ - AERNKEKR I
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification BEUGERRETRZNEFRIGE
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on BIBEEZERR o by o EUERTR
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not MRERESIEE  AEENIZEIRE
significant. AKX o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERELSER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREJNENREAEEZEEEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which ZEEEEREEEERAR  XEE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REfER RIEHEERAIERAN
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HRAMBERBIRBZHZERTER) >
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are UERR12B31B 2 MBS o Fr
gross carrying amounts for financial assets. 2INEEATHEENEIREE -
As at 31 December 2023 1220235128318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
28R M
EE5H#E SHEMEEBR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PEER PR HIEER  MERE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERx T#ERx T#w T#ERx TEw
Trade receivables* FEW R T - - = 72,586 72,586
Bills receivable EHER 33,963 - - - 33,963
Due from a fellow subsidiary el —REE %
B ARRE 312 - - - 312
Financial assets included in FABMRIE B
prepayments, deposits and REECREZRZ
other receivables ERMEE
- Normal** —E&E" 45,966 - - = 45,966
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEZEEE
— Not yet past due — KB 162,442 - - - 162,442
242,683 - - 72,586 315,269
RAEEFRAF
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

36. SREMREEEERBEE @

Credit risk (continued) EERR @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RE AR FEEER (&)
As at 31 December 2022 122022512 831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 81
FEBE 2PEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PEE MR B BWIEAHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THET THERT TAT THET
Trade receivables* e BR T - - - 96,620 96,620
Bills receivable EWER& 43,095 - - - 43,095
Due from a fellow subsidiary El—ERZKBAR
B 1,399 - - - 1,399
Financial assets included in HABRMRE - BER
prepayments, deposits and HERKRZ
other receivables EHEE
- Normal** —E&E" 51,528 - - - 51,528
Cash and cash equivalents RERRELEER
— Not yet past due — KA 340,217 - - - 340,277
436,209 - ; 96,620 532,919
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified : MAEEESAERERB/EEEZE

approach for impairment, information based on the credit rating is
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

*%

WERRIM S > BIMEETRZ BRI
FEER AR MY 5E204 B8 -

STATANTIE - RERHEEKRZE
MEEZEEEENEHNERMEELE
BHRR RS TER ) WERENETE
MEmMEEZ EEER BB REDLR
WERM - TR AHEREEZER
HERRATRIR ©
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EERRMEE

31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. £fEMEEIEBZREE @)

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk M E = E R
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between rEEZBRSEEBERRT
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans ERKREEZRAREREUERE
and projected cash flows from operations. ERBHEREEG M TS -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as RIBE TR > KEE
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ERMEERRSHARZIABERNT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2023 20235128318
On demand
or no later 1to
than 1 year 5 years Total
BREKRD
—EUTF —ELf mE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FER FER
Trade payables FE(TER R 106,018 - 106,018
Other payables and accruals He AR RESER 63,428 = 63,428
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t S ERITER 99,155 8,367 107,522
Lease liabilities HEAaE 5,970 3,257 9,227
Due to fellow subsidiaries FERRZRKEBARRIE 12,458 - 12,458
287,029 11,624 298,653
31 December 2022 20224128 31H
On demand
or no later 110
than 1 year 5 years Total
RERD
—FEPTF —EREF 4%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET
Trade payables FE 13 BR R 71,340 - 71,340
Other payables and accruals HERNMRESER 80,085 - 80,085
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B $RITIE 69,338 63,516 132,854
Lease liabilities HE&R 6,203 9,256 15,459
Due to fellow subsidiaries B EAKBATDRE 9,734 - 9,734
236,700 72,772 309,472
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2023 and nine months ended 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent.
Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

36.

ErRtEREREBIERBER @)

BFXER

FEFEAEENTEZBRER
EAEBFECENESN  LRFER
BHEARLER UXFEHEBFLEIR
REREESRKIE-

EBRBEER T E E R AE R
EENERPBHEEEAGEBL DN
AR MERNRABEREE  £&
E A RERRRIKTHRE  ARKRER
REBXRFBITHMRG - AEEFR
ERSNBIEIMNEAZRFAIR - 8=
2023128310 L FE R E F2022512
A31BILEAEAR EEEXHNER

FrEBERESBRLER BIE
BRUBABRREGER ERE
Ko BHBAEFBRITER -BEEXE
EEARRREGEDL - BERSH
RANEABRLERT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

20234 20224

12H31H 128318

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings s RIRITER 104,850 126,646
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BREIRRELRELS 591,941 627,831
Gearing ratio BEXRABB/IEE 17.7% 20.2%
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31 December 2023 20235 125 31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 37. KRB ZHMBERRER

Information about the statement of financial position of the BRARRBENBREARZFFHEA
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRZEBNMT :
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20235 20224
12831 128318
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment 5B R 5% 15 51 88
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,967 7,934
Due from subsidiaries P& WSt I BB A =) FR 1B 234,056 248,509
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AT ZKRE 296,281 296,281
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 534,355 552,812
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits and other receivables HEREEERKR 2,218 2,904
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkIREEEER 58,051 106,276
Total current assets MEEEMEE 60,269 109,180
CURRENT LIABILITIES pird I B=R
Other payables HERBMR 2,691 4,575
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,300 4,093
Due to a subsidiary P& {5 — Fé B B8 2 B TR IE - 195
Total current liabilities PRk 6,991 8,863
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 53,278 100,317
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERGEEE 587,633 653,129
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEE
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 60 4,360
NET ASSETS BEFE 587,573 648,769
EQUITY =
Share capital [ 215,004 215,004
Reserves (note) 1 (M) 372,569 433,765
Total equity RS iagE 587,573 648,769
Fang Wen Quan Lui Man Sang
X BX%E
Chairman Executive Director
BEER HITEE
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31 December 2023 20235125 31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

37. BRBZMBERAR @)

(continued)
Note: M 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARREZBENT !
Retained
Capital Capital Exchange profits/
Share redemption contribution fluctuation  (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
BX R ER REEHN/
i EE BElE Gt REEE  (RHER) gLk
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR T F#En Ti#En F#ER TR
At 1 April 2022 #2022F481H 355,703 67 88,441 (13,160) 81,063 512,114
Loss for the period il o - - - - (37,356) (37,356)
Exchange difference arising on translation HEETZERER - - - (23,363) - (23,363)
Total comprehensive loss for the period R EFRLE - - - (23,363) (37,356) (60,719)
Special and final dividends for year ended BEREZE2253831H
31 March 2022 declared IHEERBRREKBRE - - - - (17,630) (17,630)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 120226128318 %
2023%181H 365,703 67 88,441 (36,523) 26,077 433,765
Loss for the year rEERR - - - - (54,129) (54,129)
Exchange difference arising on translation HEELZERESR - - - (1417) - (1477)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEERERRLEE - - - (1417) (54,129) (55,606)
Final dividends for the ning months BER#EE20224512A31H
ended 31 December 2022 declared LENERNKSBRE - - - - (5,590) (5,590)
At 31 December 2023 2023&E12R318 355,703 67 88,441 (38,000) (33,642) 372,569
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. HAFEERI|ZHLE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2024.

MBEIRREMN2024F3IF260 €%
FEERERMAETIE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
E 3
Nine months
ended  Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2023
Year ended 31 March BE HE
BEANBLEE 20224 20236
12H31H 12A31H
2020 2021 202  LLAER ILEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FERT FHET FTERT T#x
Revenue WA 491,475 474,332 509,955 410,021 532,089
(Loss)/Profit before tax bRISAT (B548) /B F 15,928 (27,442) (28,018) (47,890 (25,694)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FriSiRIkSR /(2 H) (7,128) 1,524 6,343 3,647 689
(Loss)/Profit for the P ] 3
period/year (8518) /& 8,800 (25,918) (21,675) (44,243) (25,005)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to:  (&518) /HFIGR B :
Owners of the parent ISYNGILE 3,143 (27,142) (19,771) (40,977) (24,155)
Non-controlling interests R ER 5,657 1,224 (1,904) (3,266) (850)
8,800 (25,918) (21,675) (44,243) (25,005)
HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
A Al Al AL #fl
(Loss)/Earnings per share A% (§518) /&7 0.15 (1.26) (0.92) (1.91) (1.12)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERAR
At At
31 December 31 December
At 31 March 2022 2023
Kt3H318 120226 720235
2020 2021 2022 12H31H 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FHET FHET F#ET
Total assets BEMRE 933,123 1,133,461 1,164,151 1,088,468 917,291
Total liabilities B{E4REE (173,360) (342,966) (375,076) (434,226) (325,350)
759,763 790,495 789,075 654,242 591,941
Equity attributable to owners BAFIBR R
of the parent FE(L #E 722,777 756,709 756,754 627,831 592,071
Non-controlling interests JEIER = 36,986 33,786 32,321 26,411 (130)
759,763 790,495 789,075 654,242 591,941

1% B
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